# A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY ON THE EXPERIENCES OF GRADUATES FROM AN EARLY COLLEGE HIGH SCHOOL IN THE SOUTH ON THEIR TRANSITION TO A FOUR-YEAR UNIVERSITY

by

Mikki Curtis

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

# A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY ON THE EXPERIENCES OF GRADUATES FROM AN EARLY COLLEGE HIGH SCHOOL IN THE SOUTH ON THEIR TRANSITION TO A FOUR-YEAR UNIVERSITY

by Mikki Curtis

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA
2023

APPROVED BY:

Patricia Ferrin, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Sabine Branch, Ed.D., Committee Member

#### Abstract

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of graduates of an early college high school (ECHS) in the South on their transition to a fouryear university. During this research a students' experiences with a transition was generally defined as their transition to a four-year university after they graduate high school with their associate degree. The theory guiding this study was Schlossberg's transition theory, which explores how people cope with transitions. The central research question examined during this study is "How do graduates of an ECHS in the South describe their experiences with their transition to a four-year university?" The three sub-questions in this study examined students' experiences of moving in, moving through, and moving out of the four-year university. A transcendental phenomenological research design was used to study the research questions. The study included 11 participants that graduated from the southern collegiate high school located on the Southern Community College campus. Data was collected using a questionnaire, a semistructured interview, letter-writing, and focus groups. The data was analyzed using phenomenological reduction, which includes horizontalization, imaginative variation, and synthesis. Several themes emerged including 1) Self-Awareness 2) Academic Preparation 3) College Awareness and 4) Relationships. Each of these primary themes have several sub-themes that also emerged. These themes and sub-themes informed the answers to the research questions regarding the experiences of graduates from an ECHS and their transition to a four-year university.

*Keywords*: early college high school, high school transition, Schlossberg's transition theory, qualitative study

# **Copyright Page**

Copyright 2023, Mikki Curtis

#### **Dedication**

I would like to thank God for his guidance throughout this research. Without him, this journey would not have been possible. I am thankful for his continuous presence and the fact that he was always there with me throughout this process. I look forward to seeing how he uses this degree to further his kingdom and his purpose.

To my husband, Casey, I cannot express how thankful I am for your encouraging words and your support throughout this long process. You were the calm that I needed on the difficult days. You will never know how much your hugs during the stressful times, your uplifting smile, your prayers, and your many words of encouragement meant to me. I will forever be thankful for you and what you have placed aside for me to finish this degree. I love you.

To my parents, thank you for your many phone calls checking on my progress. Your support and belief in me helped push me throughout this difficult process. I thank God every day that he gave me you both as my parents. I can only hope that I can become half the person that either of you are. Thank you for everything and for being my biggest cheerleaders.

Finally, to my family, friends, church family, and work colleagues. I would like to say thank you for your encouraging words throughout this process. I am appreciative of all the love and support you have given me.

# Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge and thank every individual who contributed to this work. Thank you to the 11 participants who took time from their busy college schedules to participate in my study. I am so grateful that you were willing to participate and share your experiences. I cannot thank you enough. You have all helped me better understand many things through your experiences. I would also like to thank Dr. Ferrin and Dr. Branch for their guidance, support, and encouragement throughout the dissertation process. I was blessed with the best committee chair and committee member. I will forever be grateful for your patience and guidance.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Copyright Page	4
Dedication	5
Acknowledgments	6
Table of Contents	7
List of Tables	12
List of Abbreviations	13
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	14
Overview	14
Background	14
Historical Context	15
Social Context	16
Theoretical Context	18
Problem Statement	19
Purpose Statement	20
Significance of the Study	20
Theoretical Significance	21
Empirical Significance	21
Practical Significance	22
Research Questions	22
Central Research Question	23
Sub-Question One	23

	Sub-Question Two	23
	Sub-Question Three	23
	Definitions	23
	Summary	24
СНАР	PTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	25
	Overview	25
	Theoretical Framework	25
	Schlossberg's Transition Theory	26
	Related Literature	28
	Higher Education in America	29
	Transition to College	31
	College Preparatory Programs	38
	Factors that Impact College Completion	50
	Summary	51
СНАР	PTER THREE: METHODS	56
	Overview	56
	Research Design.	56
	Research Questions	57
	Central Research Question.	57
	Sub-Question One	58
	Sub-Question Two	58
	Sub-Question Three	58
	Setting and Participants	58

Site58
Participants60
Researcher Positionality60
Interpretive Framework60
Philosophical Assumptions 61
Researcher's Role
Procedures 63
Permissions64
Recruitment Plan64
Data Collection Plan65
Individual Interviews65
Letter-Writing72
Focus Groups73
Data Synthesis75
Trustworthiness
Credibility76
Transferability77
Dependability77
Confirmability77
Ethical Considerations
Summary78
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS80
Overview80

Partici	ipants	80
	Alison	80
	Tia	81
	Kylie	82
	Crystal	82
	Casey	83
	Morgan	84
	Andrea	84
	Amy	85
	Sarah	86
	Madison	86
	Jake	87
Result	ts	88
	Self-Awareness	89
	Academic Preparation	92
	College Awareness	96
	Relationships	99
	Outlier Data and Findings	101
Resea	rch Question Responses	102
	Central Research Question	102
	Sub-Question One	103
	Sub-Question Two	104
	Sub-Question Three	107

Summary	109
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	110
Overview	110
Discussion	110
Interpretation of Findings	112
Implications for Practice	116
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	118
Limitations and Delimitations	120
Recommendations for Future Research	121
Conclusion	121
References	123
Appendix A	136
Appendix B	138
Appendix C	139
Appendix D	142
Appendix E	143
Appendix F	147
Appendix G	148

# **List of Tables**

Table 1 Themes and Sub-Themes of a Student's Transition p. 89

# **List of Abbreviations**

Advanced Placement (AP)

Early College High School (ECHS)

International Baccalaureate (IB)

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### Overview

A student's transition from high school to college may present some challenges. Many school districts have college preparatory programs to help prepare students for the transition to college. The different college preparatory programs examined in this study included advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, early college high schools, and summer bridge programs. The problem that will be examined during this study deals with students struggling with transitioning from traditional high school to college (Duncheon, 2020; Lile et al., 2018; Mollet et al., 2020; Troutman et al., 2018). This phenomenological study aims to understand the experiences of graduates of an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university. The findings of this study will provide important information regarding a student's experience at an ECHS and their transition to a four-year university based on the four S factors included in Schlossberg's transition theory (Schlossberg, 1981). This chapter will examine the background which will look at the historical, social, and theoretical contexts. Next, the problem statement, purpose statement, and the significance of the study will be described. Finally, the research questions will be identified.

# **Background**

Students taking college courses in high school is not a new concept; instead, it is popular in secondary education. Many school districts offer dual enrollment courses for their students, including advanced placement courses. Some schools provide their students the opportunity to participate in an ECHS program. ECHS programs have continued to grow in popularity in several states because they are designed to smooth a student's transition to a four-year university (Walk, 2020). ECHSs provide an environment where students learn that college courses are

different than high school courses (Duncheon, 2020), learn time management skills (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018), and realize that college expectations are different than high school expectations (Mollet et al., 2020). The skills and information students learn by attending an ECHS benefit them by assisting in degree completion (Britton et al., 2020; Song et al., 2021) and college preparedness (Zeiser et al., 2019). Students who attend an ECHS attend a program that provides acceleration, which ultimately helps students to be more successful in college (Taylor & Yan, 2018).

Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory will be used to examine a high school student's transition from an ECHS to a four-year university. Schlossberg (1981) has several components that make up his theory, but ultimately, it explores how a person copes and adjusts to a new environment. Research has examined the effects of preparatory programs on high school students and their transition, but there is little completed research on the experiences of an ECHS graduate and their transition to a four-year university. Since there is an increase in ECHSs across the United States, it is essential to understand the experiences of students who have graduated from these programs on a student's transition to a four-year university, specifically concerning the student's situation, support, self, and strategies. The information gained from this research will help secondary and postsecondary educators make adjustments to their programs, such as providing more resources, if needed, based on feedback from students who have participated in these programs.

#### **Historical Context**

The idea of starting college early began with Elizabeth Blodgett, who founded Simon's Rock in Great Barrington, Mass., which was a residential college for 16-year-olds (Walk, 2020). In 1979, Simon's Rock was taken over by Bard College, which would eventually play a

significant role in the rise of ECHSs. Leon Botstein was the president of Bard College, and he graduated high school and entered the University of Chicago at the age of 16 (Walk, 2020). In the mid-1990s, Leon Botstein felt that high schools were not meeting the needs of their students (Botstein, 1997). Botstein's solution to the current condition of high schools was for students to graduate after 10<sup>th</sup> or 11<sup>th</sup> grade, around the age of 16, and enter college at that time.

In New York City, Chancellor Harold Levy had Leon Botstein try his idea of high school ending early, which resulted in BHSEC, a New York City public high school where students would earn both a high school diploma and an associate degree in four years at no cost (Walk, 2020). This idea was different than anything presented before because the students would graduate college before they turned 18 and take college courses while in high school. Over the years, BHSEC has served more than a million students. As of 2016, 60% of students in Bard's network of early college programs qualified for free or reduced cost (DeRuy, 2016).

The rapid expansion of ECHSs across the United States was started in 2002 by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Walk, 2020). They were developed to give underrepresented students the opportunity to gain college credits in high school while receiving support from high school faculty (Adams et al., 2020). Most ECHSs immerse the students on a community college campus, merging the secondary and postsecondary experience into one (Edmunds et al., 2020). Students who attend an ECHS work toward a high school diploma and associate degree simultaneously. Research shows that 22% of students who attend an ECHS complete an associate degree in two years (Zeiser et al., 2020;2021).

#### **Social Context**

Gaining a bachelor's degree, associate degree, or credential in a skilled trade helps students have greater access to higher-paying jobs that include benefits (Carnevale et al., 2018).

High school students need to have a smooth transition to college after high school to gain these degrees and credentials. In 2020, 62.7% of high school graduates enrolled in college (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2018). Students who participate in college preparatory programs while in high school, such as advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, ECHSs, or summer bridge programs, are on an acceleration track and tend to do better not only in high school (D'Anna et al., 2019) but also in college (Taylor & Yan, 2018). The benefits of college preparatory programs include higher college enrollment and retention rates (Morgan et al., 2018; Song et al., 2021; Taylor & Yan, 2018), a higher college GPA (Warren & Goins, 2019), more college completion (Britton et al., 2020; D'Anna et al., 2019), and exposure to college academics and environment (Lile et al., 2018; Witkowsky & Clayton, 2020). The preparatory programs also help students save money (Adams et al., 2020; Troutman et al., 2018).

Transitioning to college is a challenging experience for many high school students.

Research shows that students who participate in any form of acceleration have greater success during their transition and retention (Taylor & Yan, 2018). To help better prepare high school students for the transition to college, many schools provide preparatory programs to their students, such as advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, ECHSs, or summer bridge programs. For schools that have ECHSs and those interested in starting one in their area, this study will provide insights into the experiences of students of an ECHS in the South regarding their transition. The experiences can provide educators with feedback regarding ECHSs so that these college preparatory programs can be improved for all students.

#### **Theoretical Context**

Changes and transitions are experiences that people go through nearly every day.

Multiple theories can be applied to this area of study, including human ecology, Erikson's identity development theory, and Chickering's theory of identity development. These various theories can help colleges understand the critical period of adjustment that students face when they transition and whether or not they will be successful after their transition. The ecology theory examines the interaction between a student and their environment (Banning, 1989). The environment for this study is an educational setting that facilitates the growth and development of the student. The ecological theory is not specifically used in student development and affairs (Evans et al., 2010), but it does provide an example of the transition between different environments and how individuals interact with the environment they develop. Banning (1989) discusses the two environments that play an essential role in a transition: the "sending environment" and the "receiving environment." The high school environment is the "sending environment," and the four-year university is the "receiving environment." ECHSs combine both environments to help with the stress students experience as they transition to college.

Erikson's (1968) identity development theory consists of eight stages of development that are each considered a "turning point," where stability must be settled between the internal person and the external surroundings (Erikson, 1968). The eight stages include basic trust versus mistrust, autonomy versus shame and doubt, initiative versus guilt, industry versus inferiority, identity versus identity diffusion, intimacy versus isolation, generatively versus stagnation, and integrity versus despair (Evans et al., 2010). These eight stages of identity development and how students move through the different phases of life are what Chickering (1969) used to develop the seven vectors of development. Chickering (1969) described them as vectors of development

"because each seems to have direction and magnitude even though the direction may be expressed more appropriately by a spiral or by steps than by a straight line" (p. 8). The seven vectors include competency, managing emotions, moving through autonomy toward interdependence, developing mature and interpersonal relationships, establishing identity, developing purpose, and developing integrity (Chickering & Reisser, 1993). Chickering (1969) also included environmental influences that can impact a student and their development, including institutional objectives, institutional size, student-faculty relationships, curriculum, teaching, friendships, student communities, and student development and services (Chickering & Reisser, 1993).

Each of these theories looks at factors and influences that affect a person as they develop and undergo transitions. Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory is similar to these theories because it looks at transitions and how people handle those transitions as they go through them. Schlossberg (1981) has four S factors that impact how an individual copes with a transition: situation, self, support, and strategies. This study is built on the theoretical context of transitions, focusing on a student's transitions from an ECHS to a four-year university, primarily using Schlossberg's (1981) four S factors.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem is that students struggle with the transition from traditional high school to college (Duncheon, 2020; Lile et al., 2018; Mollet et al., 2020; Troutman et al., 2018). There are several differences between the expectations of high schools and the expectations of colleges (Duncheon, 2020; Lile et al., 2018; Mollet et al., 2020), and because of the disconnect, many students do not feel prepared for the transition between the two (Troutman et al., 2018). Many incoming first-year college students transfer without the skills, basic content knowledge, and

understanding of how to perform well on college-level work (McGhee, 2020). Research shows that students who successfully transition from high school to college have a greater sense of belonging because of peer-group interaction, faculty interaction and support, parental support, and the college's supportive culture (Mu & Cole, 2019). Most high schools provide preparatory programs to help better prepare students for the transition, including advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, ECHSs, or summer bridge programs. These different preparatory programs provide students with acceleration, which research shows helps students have greater success with their transition and retention (Lile et al., 2018; Taylor & Yan, 2018).

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of graduates of an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university. The theory guiding this study is Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, which looks at how people cope with the transitions, specifically a person's situation, support, self, and strategies (Schlossberg, 1981). At this stage in the research, students' experiences with a transition will be generally defined as their transition to a four-year university after they graduate high school with their associate degree.

### Significance of the Study

This study included students who attended an ECHS called the Collegiate High School on a Southern Community College campus. Specifically, the study examined the experiences of students who attended the ECHS on their transition to a four-year university. The findings of this study provided important information regarding a student's experience at an ECHS and their transition to a four-year university based on the four S factors included in Schlossberg's

transition theory (Schlossberg, 1981). The findings provide meaningful feedback to the Collegiate High School on the Southern Community College campus and other ECHSs. The findings also help educators better understand the quantitative data concerning a student's transition from an ECHS (Hutchins et al., 2019) by looking at a student's experience.

## **Theoretical Significance**

The theory guiding this study is Schlossberg's transition theory (1981). Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory examines how an individual copes with a change and transitions to a new environment. Schlossberg (1981) examines the characteristics of the transition, the pre-and post-transition environments, and the characteristics of the individual experiencing the transition (Schlossberg, 1981). There are four main factors that Schlossberg (1981) explores during a person's transition: their situation, support, self, and strategies (Schlossberg et al., 1995). Out of the students who graduate from an ECHS, 71% transition to college, and 86% persist to the second year of college (Song et al., 2021). Looking at the students' experiences regarding attending an ECHS and their transition could provide more information to support previous quantitative research and help expand the theory and understanding of transitions.

# **Empirical Significance**

ECHSs have become popular throughout the United States. There have been many benefits discovered concerning ECHS in previous research, including students' gaining more college credits (Zeiser et al., 2019), helping students learn how to navigate college campuses and their expectations (Lile et al., 2018; Troutman et al., 2018; Witkowsky & Clayton, 2020), helping first-generation and low socioeconomic students overcome the barriers they face that prevent them from getting a college credential (Edmunds et al., 2020; Morgan et al., 2018), helping students be more prepared for college (Mokher et al., 2018), and completing a degree

(Britton et al., 2020; D'Anna et al., 2019; Song et al., 2021; Zeiser et al., 2019). Previous research on ECHS examined statistical data, but little research has examined students' experiences in the program on their transitions to a four-year university.

As noted earlier, research has focused on the benefits of ECHS gathered through quantitative data, but there is little research on the students' experiences with attending an ECHS on their transition to a four-year university. The information gathered in this research can help researchers better understand the quantitative data that has already been collected regarding students who have attended an ECHS. Looking at the students' experiences will also help us better understand their transition to a four-year university and their experiences as they went through the transition regarding their situation, support, self, and strategies.

# **Practical Significance**

This study could bring about changes to the ECHS model by looking at the experiences of students who attended an ECHS and their transition to a four-year university. It provides feedback to the Southern Community College and its specific ECHS. The study gives feedback regarding college preparatory programs and how they affect students and their transitions to college. The information gathered could help schools make positive changes that better prepare students for their transition to college and reaffirm what they are already doing in their programs.

#### **Research Questions**

Transitions and change are something with which all people struggle. According to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, four components need to be considered when looking at a transition: a person's situation, support, self, and strategies (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The transition to college is a significant change for high school students. Most school districts have implemented college preparatory programs in their high schools to help prepare students for their

transition (Jett & Rinn, 2020) and help align secondary and postsecondary systems (Nodine et al., 2019). ECHSs are college preparatory programs that provide students with the opportunity to graduate high school with their high school diploma and associate degree simultaneously.

Students who attend an ECHS have a head start on their college education which helps them obtain a higher degree sooner (Zeiser et al., 2019).

# **Central Research Question**

How do graduates of an ECHS in the South describe their experiences with transitioning to a four-year university?

## **Sub-Question One**

Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the time prior to enrollment, called the moving-in process?

#### **Sub-Question Two**

Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the period of enrollment, called the moving through process?

# **Sub-Question Three**

Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the time after their first semester, called the moving out process?

#### **Definitions**

1. Early College High School (ECHS) – Early college high schools are small schools located on campuses of two- or four-year universities that provide high school students

- the opportunity to graduate high school with their high school diploma and associate degree simultaneously at no charge to the student (Zeiser et al., 2020;2021).
- 2. *Dual Enrollment* Dual enrollment programs are collaborations between high schools and colleges that provide students the opportunity to enroll in college courses while in high school and get both college and high school credit (Troutman et al., 2018).
- 3. *Situation* The situation is a time of transition and examines whether it was anticipated, unanticipated, or nonevent (Schlossberg et al., 1995).
- 4. *Support* Support is the support system, including people and assets, which a person has that helps them during a transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).
- 5. Self Self is the identity of a person and their optimism level (Schlossberg et al., 1995).
- 6. *Strategies* Strategies are the coping resources a person has during a transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

## **Summary**

ECHSs are on the rise in the United States, and research shows that students benefit from completing these programs (Edmunds et al., 2020; Zeiser et al., 2019). The student experiences at an ECHS on a student's transition to a four-year university will provide insight into how the students see the benefits of their transition. The feedback provided by the students give ECHSs information that they can use to adjust their programs and help them see ways that their programs benefit their students. The feedback also provides insight into a student's transition regarding their situation, support, self, and strategies. In this chapter, a summary of relevant literature, Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, and research questions were presented. Studying this topic helps fill the gap in the research literature regarding high school students' transitions to college.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### Overview

A review of the literature was completed to examine students' transitions from high school to college, as well as the college preparatory programs that school districts implement to help with the transition. In the theoretical framework, the theory that is most relevant to the study is Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory. In this study, Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory will be applied to approaching transitions, taking stock of coping resources, and taking charge of the resources. After the theory, this study will include a synthesis informed by empirical research that covers the transition to college, including academic preparation. The academic preparation will examine the differences between the high school and college curricula, specifically the rigor. The synthesis will also cover college preparatory programs, including advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, ECHSs, and summer bridge programs. The benefits and disadvantages of each college preparatory program will be examined. After the research and theories are synthesized, a gap in the literature will be identified, which supports the need for the current study.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

People experience transitions throughout their lives, and one major transition is the transition from high school to a four-year university. Most high schools provide preparatory programs in hopes of making the transition easier for their students. This chapter will begin with an overview of Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, which is the theory that will guide this study through its examination of students' transitions, as well as an overview of current literature related to students' transitions from high school and college preparatory programs. This chapter

will examine the existing literature and identify the gap in the literature that this study will address. A summary of the content and the need for this study will conclude this chapter.

### **Schlossberg's Transition Theory**

People will experience changes and transitions as they go through life. Each person handles these changes and transitions differently, even if two people are going through the same situation, such as a job loss, moving to another state, or transitioning to college. Transitions also prompt individuals to develop new assumptions about themselves and their future. Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory examines how a person copes and adjusts to a new environment by examining three steps: "the characteristics of the particular transition, the characteristics of the pre- and post-transition environments, and the characteristics of the individual experiencing the transition" (Schlossberg, 1981, p. 5).

Additionally, it is crucial to understand where students are in their transition, whether they are moving in, moving through, or moving out of the transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The moving in part of a transition is the planning period; the moving through part of a transition is when the student learns a large amount of information, and the moving out part of a transition is when the student successfully transitions to the next part of their life. As a person is going through a transition, they define and determine the meaning of the change. One person's perception of a transition can be completely different from another person going through the same transition. Understanding how a person sees their transition can help others figure out the best way to help.

#### Approaching Transitions

Transitions can be anticipated, unanticipated, or nonevent based on the amount of hope that a person attaches to them (Goodman et al., 2006). A transition is considered an anticipated

transition when a person expects it to occur, such as marriage, starting a new job, retiring, or transitioning to college. A transition is considered an unanticipated transition when something happens unexpectedly, such as getting fired, premature death of a spouse, giving up work because of an illness, or natural disasters. A nonevent transition includes transitions that someone expects but does not occur, such as a marriage that never occurs or a child that is never born (Anderson et al., 2012).

# Taking Stock of Coping Resources

Schlossberg (1981) believed that someone could navigate transitions better if they went through a process called taking stock. Following this process helps individuals better understand the transition. Taking stock consists of four components to help students cope with their transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The first factor, "situation," dissects the transition into eight smaller aspects. The "situation" factors include the trigger, timing, control, role change, duration, previous experience with a similar transition, concurrent stress, and assessment of the transition (Goodman et al., 2006). The second factor, "support," deals with whether a person has a robust support system to help them physically and mentally with the transition. The third factor, "self," deals with the personal characteristics of the person going through the transition and how they view the transition. It is essential to understand whether the person considers the transition to be positive, negative, or benign during this factor. Schlossberg (1981) believed that a person needs to be self-aware of their beliefs, abilities, perceptions, and attitudes in order to have a smooth transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The fourth factor, "strategies," deals with the coping mechanism a person brings into the transition.

# Taking Charge

A person takes charge of their transition by strengthening their resources and support. Each person has different psychological resources, including personality characteristics, that they use to help them go through complex changes or transitions. These various resources are based on a person's outlook, commitments, and values. Social supports are also key to how a person handles transitions and stress. Social support comes from different relationships and communities in which a person is involved, including family, friends, and peer groups. The stronger a person's social support is, the better they can handle the transitions they face (Cahyadi & Rohinsa, 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Dahal et al., 2018; Rahinsa et al., 2020).

Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory will frame and guide this study while looking at the experiences of students who attended an ECHS and their transitions to college. Specifically, the theory will guide the study through the research questions that will examine the resources and social support the students had before and during their transition to help them cope with the transition. It will be essential to see how they cope with these transitions after going through an ECHS, which provides the students with experience on a college campus and with college standards.

#### **Related Literature**

Literature regarding a student's transition to college is extensive. This section will provide a synthesis of the most recent literature including the history of higher education in America, a student's transition to a four-year university specifically a student's academic preparation and college readiness, and finally college preparatory program including advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, ECHSs, and summer bridge programs. This study is developed based on the gap revealed in the literature that follows.

The most recent literature has focused on high school students in general and their transition. It also has focused on the different college preparatory programs that school districts implement to help their students transition. The literature includes both quantitative and qualitative studies; however, the literature has a gap regarding the experiences of students who attended an ECHS and their transition to a four-year university.

# **Higher Education in America**

Higher education is continually evolving to adapt to the current world and students. The traditional model is changing to provide training and education to students based on the needs currently in the United States. Because the choice of higher education is not limited and many sources offer instruction, universities have to change to the ever-evolving world to keep their doors open (McCaffery, 2019). To better understand current universities, we first must consider the early universities and the changes that occurred over the years.

Initially, the early universities were founded to provide education to those going into the ministry, but after the American Revolution, they began to broaden their focus to include education for medicine and law (Clearly University, 2020). White males were the only ones who could attend college at this time (Bradley, 2018). The small number of degrees offered and the male-only limitation led to low enrollment (Hutcheson, 2019). Even though the enrollment was low, the history of the early universities provides insight into the ultimate evolution of the many universities that exist today.

The first university to be chartered was Harvard in 1636 (Bevis, 2019), with several other colleges following closely behind, including the College of William and Mary and Yale College (Hutcheson, 2019). Due to the development of the early colleges occurring without the financial support from England, many individuals were not able to attend due to the price (Bevis, 2019).

The curriculum taught in the universities continued to change throughout the year as more universities were developed. At first, the focus was on religion (Bevis, 2019), but over the years, the focus moved more towards secular topics, including practical knowledge that prepared students for employment in technical fields (Hutcheson, 2019).

Over the years, there were some challenges that the early universities faced, including low enrollment numbers due to men being the only ones who could attend (Bradley, 2018; Hutcheson, 2019; Nash, 2018), student violence which led to the development of student extracurriculars (Geiger et al., 2018), and the curriculum changes (Bevis, 2019; Clearly University, 2020). Men were not only allowed to attend the early universities but also the only ones allowed to be instructors (Ambar et al., 2020; Bradley, 2018; Hutcheson, 2019; Nash, 2018). Women were first only considered part-time instructors, but as the years went by, they were being employed as full-time instructors and even leading their departments (Ambar et al., 2020).

One of the main challenges of higher education is the universities' relationships with the federal government. The relationship between higher education and the federal government resulted in the development of financial aid for students with financial needs, which also resulted in a rise of student loans (Koch, 2019). Today, many students struggle with the loan debt they accumulated while going to school, which also results in students determining if it is worth the debt to go to school (Adams et al., 2020; Koch, 2019). A rise in private institutions also occurred, which included higher tuition rates for students but a promise of high-quality education (Hutcheson, 2019). Due to this, many students attended private institutions, leading them to an even higher school debt amount than those who attended public institutions (Koch, 2019).

Even though some students question whether going to college is the right decision for them, many of the early universities saw an increase in enrollment numbers due to women and African Americans being allowed to attend the universities (Hutcheson, 2019; Levy, 2019; Nash, 2018), the development of residence halls (Hutcheson, 2019), and the development of the GI Bill which resulted in large numbers of community college students and young people attending college (Geiger, 2019; Levy, 2019). Universities have gone from extremely limited enrollment and education to the diversity seen today. Higher education has continually changed and has ultimately provided a way for all students to get some form of higher education or vocational training to better their future.

### **Transition to College**

A student's transition to college comes with many changes academically and socially. Students with at least one parent who attended college are nearly twice as likely to enroll in college than those whose parents did not (Bird, 2018). Many students are unprepared for the transition to college because of the differences between the expectations of high schools and colleges (Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020; Nodine et al., 2019; Troutman, Hendrix-Soto et al., 2018; Walk, 2020). These differences, such as rigor, class times, and higher expectations, cause some students to struggle with the transition (Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020). Research shows that students have a greater sense of belonging when they have more peer-group interactions and support, faculty interactions and support (Calhoun et al., 2018), and parental support (Cahyadi & Rohinsa, 2020; Dahal et al., 2018; Rahinsa et al., 2020). In order for students to have a greater sense of belonging, they need to get involved in campus activities with other students and organizations (Calhoun et al., 2018; Mu & Cole, 2019).

Students who have a greater sense of belonging or feel that the college to which they transfer has

a supportive culture prove to be proactive and more successful than other students (Mu & Cole, 2019). Students often receive support from home during high school, but when transitioning to college, they need to develop a support system in their new environment to be more successful.

Additionally, school-related communication between students and their families starting in the ninth grade helps students receive higher grades while in high school and feel more ready for the transition to college (Lessard & Juvonen, 2022). This communication also helps students stay enrolled in postsecondary education after one year (Lessard & Juvonen, 2022). Not only did the students who engaged in school-related communication feel more prepared, but many of the students were also more likely to enroll in a four-year university compared to other types of postsecondary institutions because of the increase in academic communication (Lessard & Juvonen, 2022). Some parents struggle with talking to their students about school-related topics, including going to and transitioning to college, because they did not attend college (Duncheon & DeMatthews, 2018). Some parents also have limited resources and information on how to navigate college applications (Duncheon & DeMatthews, 2018). It is essential that schools offer parental resources to help with discussions at home about college and academics, especially if the parents have never attended college. Even though some students have parents who have not attended college, they can benefit from talking with their friends about school-related topics (Lessard & Juvonen, 2022).

The disconnect between secondary and postsecondary education has resulted in students' not feeling prepared for the transition between the two (Nodine et al., 2019; Troutman, Hendrix-Soto et al., 2018). Notably, many incoming freshmen enter college without the skills, basic content knowledge, and understanding of how to perform well on college-level work (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Walk, 2020). Most secondary schools have eight class periods

that are fifty minutes long, which is completely different than a student's college schedule. Another difference is the semester-long courses in college compared to the year-long courses in high school. Students are used to having time to make the grades they need to pass or having time to recover from bad grades while in high school because of the year-long courses. In college, students have a single semester to make the grades needed to pass the course. As such, there is less time to recover from a student's bad grades. The expectations for students also tend to differ between secondary educators and postsecondary education (Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020). There is typically more leniency in high school, while more responsibility is placed on the students while they are in college. These students are expected to follow a syllabus and deadlines. To help better prepare high school students for the transition to college, many schools provide preparatory programs to their students, such as advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, and ECHS models.

Likewise, many colleges provide programs to help smooth the transition for incoming freshmen, including freshman seminar classes and summer bridge programs. The idea behind these programs is to help students learn the skills necessary to be successful in college and introduce them to the different resources on the college campus. Research shows that summer bridge programs provided students with resources that made the transition to college easier (Dorime-Williams, 2022). These various programs can be beneficial to an incoming freshman, but research shows that students who participate in any form of acceleration have greater success during their transition and retention (Taylor & Yan, 2018).

#### Academic Preparation

A significant concern among educators and researchers is whether high school students who transition to college are academically prepared. According to Conley, a student is

considered college- and career-ready if they possess the skills, content, and knowledge to succeed in any postsecondary setting (Conley, 2014). Not all students will have the same abilities, but they will need the skills necessary for their field of study. Research shows that high school students who were prepared academically for college tend to get into college and become successful (Mokher et al., 2018). Many school districts' focus is to help prepare their students for college or a career by utilizing college preparatory programs like advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, and dual enrollment or by starting ECHSs.

Research shows that students from ethnic minority groups tend to face more educational barriers than Caucasian students (Adams et al., 2020; Fitzpatrick, 2019), which causes the teachers to be prepared to differentiate the curriculum and instruction so that all student ability levels are reached (Gilson & Matthews, 2019). Girls usually receive higher grades at the end of their high school careers but feel like they are less prepared for college than boys (Lessard & Juvonen, 2022). Research shows that students with a good GPA at the beginning of high school ended high school with good grades and were better prepared to transition to college and have a higher chance of staying enrolled after one year (Lessard & Juvonen, 2022).

As students transition to college, they also lack specific skills, such as time management (Adams et al., 2020), and underestimate how much time college coursework requires (Calhoun et al., 2018). During a student's first semester, some do not spend enough time on their assignments, but they quickly learn by the second semester that they need to spend more time on their coursework to succeed. Students have to overcome the difference between the length of college courses and the length of high school courses. They tend to spend less time on their assignments because they are used to their courses lasting one year and having time to complete assignments; however, in college, their courses last one semester, and deadlines arrive more

quickly. They also do not initially realize the rigor of college courses, which adds to the amount of time needed to complete their assignments successfully (Adams et al., 2020).

During the first semester of college, most students have to learn how to balance their academic and social lives. When a student transitions to college, this is usually the first time they are on their own and allowed to make decisions for themselves. Some students struggle with wanting to socialize more with friends and participate in different college events instead of spending equal amounts of time on their academics. Once they understand the concept of balancing their time, it is easier for them to figure out that they need to spend more time on their assignments. It is evident that when high school students transition to college, many struggle, which results in some students dropping out.

On the other hand, the students who enter college with college hours tend to have an advantage because they have already been introduced to the rigor and college standards (Adams et al., 2020; Lile et al., 2018). Students who enter with college hours have participated in advance placement courses, International Baccalaureate, or dual enrollment courses or attended an ECHS. Each of these different programs provides the students with the experience of college-level rigor and standards. Research shows that students exposed to college-level rigor and standards while in high school are ultimately more successful when transitioning to a four-year university (Troutman et al., 2018).

Specifically, secondary and postsecondary education have many differences. The differences include classroom expectations, academic expectations such as rigor and higher expectations (Adams et al., 2020; Walk, 2020), and policies including discipline, grading, and attendance (Troutman, Hendrix-Soto et al., 2018). Researchers feel that the differences between high schools and colleges are part of why students struggle as they transition (Nodine et al.,

2019). There are several skills with which students struggle when they transition to college, including time management skills (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018), study skills, and communication skills (McGhee, 2020), but dual enrollment courses help expose students to these different skills (Troutman et al., 2018).

Research shows that a rigorous high school curriculum is a predictor of college success for students, regardless of demographic factors or socioeconomic status (Morgan et al., 2018). Furthermore, there is a debate between college instructors on whether dual enrollment courses are rigorous enough, especially the courses taught on the high school campus by high school instructors (Field, 2021). To help ensure that the courses on the high school campus are held to the same standards as the courses on the college campus, the high school instructors are mentored by a college instructor. The same syllabus and content have to be covered in the course taught on the high school campus. The college instructor also attends the class to ensure the rigor and expectations are being held to a college standard. Even though these standards are followed for college courses taught on a high school campus, some still feel the dual enrollment courses are not rigorous enough (Hooker, 2019). Some four-year universities even question whether courses on a community college campus provide the rigor necessary to prepare high school students for the transition to college. Some question how a high school student can be college-ready before attending college.

# College Readiness

College readiness is a hot topic in higher education and secondary education. Conley (2010) defines college readiness as "the level of preparation a student needs in order to enroll and succeed in a credit-bearing course at a postsecondary institution" (p. 21). Each state has different regulations for a student to be considered college-ready (Mokher et al., 2018; Ohlson et

al., 2019). These regulations evaluate the student's academic knowledge, critical thinking, problem-solving skills, social and emotional learning, communication, perseverance, and community involvement (Mokher et al., 2018). Most policies that attempt to improve students' college readiness only consider one indicator of college readiness: whether a student is eligible for postsecondary admission or not (Mokher et al., 2018). These policies have a negative effect on students who are first-generation, lower socioeconomically, or belong to a minority because these students tend to underperform on college readiness benchmarks compared to their peers (Duncheon, 2018).

Additionally, many high school students who enter college are not prepared for the transition. Nearly two-thirds of those who enter community colleges and 40% of those entering four-year institutions are assigned to at least one remedial course, which delays their enrollment into college-level courses (Barnett, 2018). Remedial courses are courses for students who do not have the test scores to take college-level courses. Remedial courses are provided in English and Math. Each college has different protocols, but most allow students to continue to the college-level course once they successfully complete the remedial course. The remedial courses were developed to close students' gaps between where they currently are and where they need to be in order to succeed in the college-level courses.

Higher education and secondary education implement many programs to help students become college-ready, including college preparatory programs and remedial courses such as coreqs. Remedial courses also allow students to start college even when they do not have the test scores they would generally need to do so. Once the students pass the remedial course, they are moved through a sequence of courses that ultimately lead them to the credit-bearing courses, including English and Math. Unfortunately, some students enrolled in the remedial courses do

not finish and never move on to credit-bearing coursework (Ganga et al., 2018). Some feel that evaluating a student's social and cultural contexts is essential to help prepare them for college (Kolluri & Tierney, 2020).

Researchers have examined what students feel that they need to be college-ready. Many students think that they need specific transition skills, including time management, note-taking, and writing, while others believe they need to know the logistics of college life, such as how to select courses, how to communicate properly with professors, and how to navigate the college environment (Francis et al., 2018). Some students feel that adjusting to the class schedules and time differences in college helped them be successful and college-ready (Lane et al., 2020). Even though there are many opportunities that students believe helped them prepare for college, there are some aspects of college for which they still feel unprepared after making the transition.

# **College Preparatory Programs**

College preparatory programs are increasing in popularity in secondary education. Many high schools in the United States aim to get students college- and career-ready. School districts fulfill this goal by offering dual enrollment college preparatory programs, such as traditional dual enrollment courses, advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate (IB) programs, ECHSs, and summer bridge programs. Each of these dual enrollment college preparatory programs allows students to gain college credit hours while in high school (Lile et al., 2018; Troutman et al., 2018). Policymakers view dual enrollment as a program that helps align the disconnect between secondary and postsecondary systems (Duncheon & Relles, 2020). They provide students with a pathway to gain a head start on their future while working towards technical certificates or associate degrees.

Also, college preparatory programs reduce the financial cost to students by shortening the time to a degree (Adams et al., 2020; Walk, 2020; Zeiser, 2019) and providing students with the opportunity to advance in their education either at a low tuition rate or completely free. Many school districts even pay the cost for their students to take college credit courses. Not only do college preparatory programs help students from different backgrounds, but they also help underrepresented students (Adams et al., 2020; Morgan et al., 2018). There are many benefits for students who participate in college preparatory programs, including the realization that college is achievable (Woods et al., 2018), being exposed to the college academic environment and rigor (Adams et al., 2020; Taie & Lewis, 2020), and obtaining a deeper understanding of what it means to be a college student (Lil et al., 2018). Students can also experience positive results with college enrollment, persistence, and graduation (D'Anna et al., 2019; Field, 2021; Morgan et al., 2018).

Students need to be introduced to college standards while in high school so that they will be prepared for those standards when they make the transition. According to Woods, Park & Betrand (2019), students who are given an authentic college experience while in dual enrollment courses leave high school with a better understanding of how college works. Most dual enrollment courses have to follow the standards of a traditional college course as if the course were being taught on the college campus. As such, students are introduced to college standards, rigor, and expectations, which give them the college experience that helps them better understand how college works. Specifically, the best student results come from college preparatory programs that are set up like a traditional college course, including assessments, grading policies, syllabi, textbooks, and placement requirements into the course (Woods et al., 2018). To qualify to take most of the college-level courses a student has to be college-ready in

reading and writing, and eventually has to be college-ready in math to earn an associate degree (Moreno et al., 2022). Students who participate in college preparatory programs feel that they are being introduced to specific skills like time management, study skills, communication skills (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Troutman et al., 2018), and academic behaviors that will better prepare them for the culture of the college.

Even though college preparatory programs are set up differently across the United States, they all have the same goal: to provide students with the opportunity to gain college credit while in high school. They also aim to help students become semi-independent; in this way, when students transition to college, they are not totally dependent on their parents and know how to advocate for themselves (Witkowsky & Clayton, 2020). Overall, there are many benefits to college preparatory programs, but there are also some disadvantages. For example, if a student's preferred institution will not accept all or any of their earned credits, they would have to choose between their preferred institution and entering college with the credits they earned (Lile et al., 2018). Another possible disadvantage is that some students choose to not continue their education at a four-year university if they complete their associate degree but instead choose to enter into the workforce (Zeiser et al., 2020;2021). If the students come from low-income households sometimes they have to go immediately to work to help support their families and benefit from the economic returns that resulted from their college credentials or associate degree. Even though there are some disadvantages, the advantages outweigh the disadvantages.

#### Advanced Placement Courses

Advanced Placement courses are rigorous courses taught on the high school campus.

Each year, the number of AP students that enroll to take AP exams increases (Beard et al., 2019).

Advanced placement courses are offered to high-achieving students and students who have a

greater probability of passing the AP exam (Clayton, 2021) and are taught by high school instructors. The high school instructors must go through professional development each year, specific to the content they will be teaching, to ensure that they follow all standards and rules regarding advanced placement courses. These advanced placement courses provide students the opportunity to earn college credit by passing a standardized test (Burns et al., 2019). The increase in students taking AP courses results from federal funds awarded to school districts to pay for the development of the courses and the exam fees for low-income students. Research shows that a student who completes one or more AP courses in high school sees a positive effect on their first semester GPA in college (Warren & Goins, 2019).

Additionally, students receive college credit for their AP courses if they score three or higher on the standardized test. Some school districts reward their students with cash prizes for passing their AP exams as an added incentive. A small percentage of colleges have opted out of accepting AP test scores for college credit, though the majority of colleges still accept them. Even though most colleges still take AP test scores, they each require different scores in order to give college credit. AP courses provide students with rigorous courses, which is beneficial, but there is some discussion among educators on whether that is enough to prepare students for the transition to college (Judson et al., 2019). These courses do not give students the college experience they need to provide them with the skills necessary for success. Consequently, many educators wonder if there needs to be a limit on the number of AP courses a student takes before they start taking dual enrollment courses through a college (Judson et al., 2019).

Furthermore, some advanced placement courses are taught for both AP credit and high school credit. This model is seen in some school districts, especially if the high school teacher has the credentials necessary to teach college credit as well. In most states, teachers must have a

master's degree and 18 graduate hours in the content they want to teach for college credit. In the AP courses, which automatically give students college credit, the students experience the rigor that comes with AP courses without giving up the guarantee for college credit. The students still take the AP test, but if they do not receive the score necessary for college credit, they will still receive college credit because the course was taught simultaneously as advanced placement and concurrent credit course.

#### International Baccalaureate

The International Baccalaureate (IB) program provides a rigorous curriculum for 11th and 12th-grade students, but some schools have a pre-IB program for their 9th and 10th-grade students. The mission of the IB program is to encourage students to think critically, be internationally-minded, ask challenging questions, and develop research skills proven to help them in higher education (IBO, 2022b). Another focus in an International Baccalaureate program is for the students to be lifelong learners who understand that people can have differences and are both right (IBO, 2022b).

During the 2021 school year, there were 165,884 candidates in the International Baccalaureate program across the world, with 83,369 students in the United States. Out of the 165,884 candidates, there were 88,518 that graduated from the program, which is an increase from the 2017 school year with 80,300 graduates (IBO, 2022a). For students to receive their diplomas, they must complete several tasks, including extended essays, projects, and oral presentations. Some of the courses students take in the International Baccalaureate program provide college credit if the student passes an end-of-course exam.

#### **Dual Enrollment**

Dual enrollment courses are for high school students either at their high school or college campus. These courses allow students to gain college credit. Students who take dual enrollment courses at their high school tend to still feel like high school students even though they are in a college course because they are taking the course in a high school environment (Lile et al., 2018). Since the course is taught on the high school campus, students are missing out on the experience of the college campus, which could help better prepare them for a college transition. Depending on the district, these courses are paid for either by the district or by the student and their families. Some colleges provide scholarships for concurrent students and special tuition rates to make the courses more affordable. Students fit these courses between other high school courses in their schedule. If passed, the concurrent courses give the student college credit and fulfill a high school credit.

Additionally, most dual enrollment programs at high schools provide students with the opportunity to earn high school credit and college credit simultaneously. The students are required to have specific test scores to take the courses, and remedial courses are not available for high school students in most states except for their senior year. Dual enrollment was never developed to move students toward an associate degree but instead was designed to provide students the opportunity to get some of their basic core classes. The advising provided to students who take dual enrollment is done by the high school counselor and a concurrent credit coordinator on the college campus. Some schools even use concurrent credit to allow students to take elective college courses in fields in which they are interested.

Moreover, students who enroll in dual enrollment courses see many positive benefits.

Research shows that students who take concurrent credit courses tend to have higher levels of

academic motivation, higher GPAs, and higher levels of college readiness after their first year in college (Mokher et al., 2018). These courses also help students not be placed in remedial classes (Mokher et al., 2018) and boost student outcomes, including high school graduation rates, college enrollment, college persistence, completion, and time to a degree (Field, 2021). First-generation students who take concurrent credit courses are eight percent more likely to graduate from college (Troutman et al., 2018).

Although there are many benefits to concurrent credit courses, some students feel they have less time to explore their options. Others think their opportunities are restricted because they meet specific course requirements while in high school and have a shorter time in college (Troutman et al., 2018). Another drawback to dual enrollment is its effect on a student's transcript, especially if they earn lower grades in their college courses than in a high school course. Concurrent credit courses allow students to take college-level courses in high school, which ultimately shows many students that they can handle college-level courses. Furthermore, dual enrollment also helps minority students and students of low socioeconomic status have a better chance of completing their degrees.

# Early College High Schools

Over the last several years, more ECHSs have opened across the United States. ECHSs provide students with the opportunity to graduate with their high school diploma and associate degree or postsecondary credential simultaneously or with a large number of college credits (Calhoun et al., 2019; Edmunds et al., 2020). ECHSs were launched in 2002 by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation under the Early College High School Initiative. The ECHS model became popular in 2001-2002 when the Bard High School Early College opened in New York City. By 2015, there were 80,000 students enrolled in more than 280 ECHSs (Walk, 2020).

ECHSs are defined under The Every Student Succeeds Act as "A partnership between local educational agencies and institutions of higher education where students earn both a high school diploma and no fewer than 12 college credits at no cost to families and as part of an organized course of study" (Walk, 2020, p. 125).

Additionally, ECHSs were developed to give underrepresented students in higher education the opportunity to gain college credits in high school while receiving support from high school staff (Adams et al., 2020; Atchinson et al., 2019; Mollet et al., 2020; Moreno et al., 2019). ECHSs are different from traditional concurrent credit courses because they merge the secondary and postsecondary experiences into one (Edmunds et al., 2020) instead of making them two distinct programs. Students are allowed to participate in both secondary and postsecondary events, including extracurricular activities, athletics, and clubs (Adams et al., 2020). Most ECHSs immerse the students in the college environment on a community college campus (Vargas et al., 2019). They offer a smaller school environment with smaller class sizes and a limited enrollment of 400 students or fewer (Moreno et al., 2019). Some ECHSs use college instructors to teach any high school courses that students need to complete before they start the college-level courses, while others use high school instructors.

Notably, ECHSs have great student results, including higher graduation rates than the national average, as well as greater persistence and completion rates (Mokher et al., 2018). Students who attend ECHSs attain degrees at a higher level than those who attend a traditional high school (Edmunds et al., 2020), especially minority and low-income students (Adams et al., 2020; Atchinson et al., 2019; Mollet et al., 2020; Moreno et al., 2019). Many students will graduate with an associate degree or be a few hours short of one, which allows them to have a head start at attaining their bachelor's degree. There are many benefits that students experience

while participating in an ECHS, including learning time management and organizational skills (Adams et al., 2020; Duncheon, 2020), accumulation of more college credits (Edmunds et al., 2020), and becoming better prepared for a transition to college due to being immersed in the college environment (Song et al., 2021). Even though the students who participate in an ECHS gain many credits and graduate college faster, some students experience difficulty because they lack time to grow in maturity and independence from their parents (Witkowsky & Clayton, 2020). Some students feel that leaving friends from their previous high schools and sacrificing extracurricular activities is a cost they make to attend an ECHS (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Jett & Rinn, 2019).

Specifically, the students who graduate from an ECHS with their associate degree are two years ahead of their peers who attend a traditional high school. When they transfer to a four-year university, they take junior-level courses with students several years older than they are. The majority of these students will be less mature than their older classmates, but through the early college model, they are prepared for these differences. They are also prepared for the transition to junior-level courses because they were challenged with rigorous courses while in the ECHS. Students are also more accustomed to the college environment and expectations due to attending an ECHS (Walk, 2020).

ECHSs provide students with a rigorous curriculum and an environment that teaches them how to be college students while in high school (Adams et al., 2020). Many students who choose to attend an ECHS rather than their traditional high school give up many benefits that traditional high school students get to enjoy, such as some social and extracurricular activities (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Jett & Rinn, 2019). Moreover, students who participate in an ECHS setting face many challenges. Since ECHSs are on college campuses, the

students are not around the traditional high school activities. The students find themselves more involved in the events on the community college campus than on their high school campus. These students also experience more stress, which results in a lack of sleep due to increased rigor, homework, expectations (Adams et al., 2020), a new environment, and pressures from parents, friends, and faculty (Calhoun et al., 2018). These students must quickly adapt to the new environment and find friends with whom they can connect and persevere. According to research, students also need to develop individual and social assets to help them with the differences between traditional high school and the early college high school setting including knowing how to seek help, learning how to manage the workload, and have self-determination and motivation (Calhoun et al., 2018).

Furthermore, research shows that 22% of students who participate in ECHSs complete an associate degree in two years (Zeiser et al., 2020;2021). The students at an ECHS are strategically scheduled into their college courses so that the courses they take work toward their associate degree while also taking the place of high school graduation requirements. Students who participate in ECHSs are better prepared for college than students who attend a traditional high school (Edmunds et al., 2020) because the students learn how to behave like college students and develop the college skills necessary to be successful (Song et al., 2021).

However, funding ECHSs can be expensive. ECHSs cost more to plan and operate than a traditional high school. The cost can vary for each ECHS, but the average is around \$1,000 per student per year (Atchison et al., 2019). Because of the end of the Gates Foundation funding, some schools looked at ways to have the ECHS model across an entire school district instead of separating it. This approach is called "early college for all" and was a collaboration between Jobs for the future and three school districts in Colorado and Texas (Walk, 2020). In 2016, the U.S.

Department of Education waived the financial rules for Pell Grants for 44 colleges, which resulted in their being able to give the Pell Grant to high school students. Students who received the Pell Grant because of financial need were then able to use those funds to pay for their college courses, which helped the school districts with the cost of the college courses in the ECHSs (Walk, 2020). Even though there were many benefits to the Pell Grant experiment, it will not be renewed after the 2021-2022 school year, which will result in higher expenses for students and school districts when it comes to students taking college courses.

## Summer Bridge Programs

There are many reasons students do not persist and complete their degrees. In 2016, only 60% of students who started college in 2010 finished their bachelor's degree (U.S. Department of Education, 2018). Research shows that the top reasons students do not finish college involve both personal and external factors, such as not being prepared academically, struggling to adjust to the college academic rigor (Adams et al., 2020), homesickness, not fitting in at the college the student attends, lack of guidance and mentors, and having to work while in school, which takes time that is needed to study (GoCollege, 2019). To help combat the personal and external factors, some schools provide summer bridge programs for their students.

Two- and four-year institutions offer summer bridge programs to ease a student's transition to college. The summer bridge program provides instruction in a student's area of academic need, student supports, and instruction on soft skills (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019; Howard & Sharpe, 2019). Students also receive a stipend once they successfully complete the program. Grace-Odeleye & Santiago (2019) show that the summer bridge programs reduced the need for college-level developmental education for the first year and a half. The summer bridge

program also had no significant influence on the accumulation of credits and persistence (Venegas-Muggli, 2019).

However, research shows that summer bridge programs help students prepare for the transition to college by increasing academic readiness, promoting student inclusion and integration on the college campus academically and socially, introducing students to the support staff on campuses, and explaining the support staff's programs and services (Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). These programs also help students learn how to be their own advocates and persist throughout college, even though there will be challenges (Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). Summer bridge programs benefit students from low socioeconomic backgrounds and first-generation students since they typically have a higher chance of not completing their degree because of personal and external factors (Radunzel, 2018).

Each university has a unique way of running its summer bridge programs, but they typically run for two to eight weeks. Students that are first-generation, of low socioeconomic status, or at-risk are chosen to participate in the programs. Some universities require students to complete summer bridge programs before formally being admitted into the college. In this situation, the bridge program is designed to help students develop or refine skills necessary to succeed in college, including understanding college life and the academic rigor (Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). Most summer bridge programs also offer an in-depth orientation for the students, which discusses academics, college life, and the different resources located on the campus (Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). This orientation also teaches the students skills needed for college success, including time management, communication skills, and study skills, as well as providing the students with the opportunity to develop social and peer connections (Odeleye & Santiago, 2019).

# **Factors that Impact College Completion**

The first six months of a student's college career are crucial when examining their persistence and completion of the first year. If students complete their first year of college, they have completed more than half the battle in persistence toward their bachelor's degree (Nicoletti, 2019; Tinto, 1988). As students transition to college, they must find a way to incorporate themselves into the social and academic systems. The students who successfully get involved with the different academic and social systems of college tend to persist past their freshman year (Nicoletti, 2019; Tinto, 1975).

However, some students decide to drop out of college. Tinto (1988) examined how separation, transition, and incorporation between groups of people can affect whether they continue in education or decide to depart. Students first have to learn how to separate themselves from their high school life so that they can transition into the new ways of college life. The separation deals with moving away from their parents, friends and the comfortable habits and way of life to which they were accustomed. The students must be prepared to experience the change which comes with the transition. The different changes include location, environment, people, and the level of independence. Once the students transition, they must learn how to incorporate new approaches and skills into their everyday lives to succeed in college, such as time management, study skills, and communication skills (McGhee, 2020).

Overall, there are many benefits to getting a college degree. Students who graduate with their college degree tend to make more money. The financial benefits of a college degree generally increase as a person ages and stay in the profession (Kim & Tamborini, 2019). Another benefit that comes with getting a college degree is financial compensation, such as health insurance, more vacation hours, and pensions (Kim & Tamborini, 2019). Even if students earn an

associate degree but do not pursue a bachelor's degree, they tend to make more money than students with only a high school diploma (Kim & Tamborini, 2019). Some students graduate high school with an associate degree if they attended an ECHS, while other students who attended an ECHS have some college credits and only lack a few to finish their associate degree.

For some students, completing college can be difficult because of several factors, especially if the students are first-generation students. Different external factors, such as work responsibilities, finances, or enrollment status, impact college completion for many students (Zeiser et al., 2020;2021). First-generation students may struggle to complete their college degrees because of personal and family-related stressful events or because they are not involved in extracurricular activities on the college campus (Adams et al., 2020). According to Zeiser, Song & Atchison (2020;2021), one of the most significant contributors to students' graduating from college on time are the cost of attending and the institutional aid they receive. As such, college students who participated in dual enrollment or an ECHS and accumulated college credits while in high school have a lower cost factor to finishing their degree.

## **Summary**

Higher education has continually evolved since its first development, from providing only a few programs of studies for select individuals to providing an education for all in many fields (McCaffery, 2019). The transition to college from high school tends to be difficult for students because of many differences between high schools and colleges (Adams et al., 2020; Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020; Nodine et al., 2019; Troutman, Hendrix-Soto et al., 2018; Walk, 2020). Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory looks at how a person copes and adjusts to a new environment by examining three steps: "the characteristics of the particular transition, the characteristics of the pre- and post-transition environments, and the characteristics

of the individual experiencing the transition" (Schlossberg, 1981, p.5). It is crucial to understand where students are in their transition, whether they are moving in, moving through, or moving out of the transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

Schlossberg (1981) believed that an individual could navigate transitions better if they went through a process called taking stock. Taking stock consists of four different components, considered the four Ss – situation, support, self, and strategies – that will help students cope with their transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The first factor, "situation," deals with several different aspects of the transition in order to help a person better understand what they will experience during the transition. The second factor, "support," deals with whether a person has a robust support system to help them physically and mentally with the transition. The third factor, "self," deals with the personal characteristics of the individual going through the transition and how they view it. Schlossberg (1981) believed a person needs to be self-aware of their beliefs, abilities, perceptions, and attitudes so that they can have a smooth transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The fourth factor, "strategies," deals with the coping mechanism a person brings into the transition.

Overall, there are several reasons that some students tend to struggle with their transition to college while others are able to navigate the transition more easily. Students who feel they can turn to their faculty, peers, or parents for support tend to handle the transition better (Calhoun et al., 2018). Students also need to feel a sense of belonging and feel they have a supportive culture to be proactive in their education and be successful (Mu & Cole, 2019). A significant disconnect between secondary and postsecondary education negatively affects students (Troutman et al., 2018). Studies have shown that many high school students struggle with the expectations of being college students and the differences in schedule and rigor of courses (Adams et al., 2020;

Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020; Lile et al., 2018; Mollet et al., 2020). The students are also used to having the support of their parents with them in every decision, but once they transition to college, they face the realities of autonomy and independence (Witkowsky & Clayton, 2020). Students also struggle with time management, and many have academic deficiencies because of their academically poor high school curriculum (McGhee, 2020).

Many districts implement college preparatory programs to help prepare their students for college or a career. College preparatory programs include including advanced placement courses, International Baccalaureate, dual enrollment courses, ECHSs, and summer bridge programs.

These different college preparatory programs help students see that college is achievable (Woods et al., 2018), provide exposure to the college academic environment and rigor (Adams et al., 2020; Taie & Lewis, 2020), and give a deeper understanding of what it means to be a college student (Lile et al., 2018), and increase positive results with college enrollment, persistence, and graduation (D'Anna et al., 2019; Morgan et al., 2018). Many colleges provide programs to help smooth the transition for incoming freshmen, including freshman seminar classes and summer bridge programs. The goal of these programs is to help students learn the skills necessary to succeed in college and introduce them to the resources on the college campus. These programs can be beneficial to an incoming freshman, but research shows that any student who participates in a form of acceleration will have greater success during their transition and retention (Taylor & Yan, 2018).

Conley (2010) defines college readiness as "the level of preparation a student needs in order to enroll and succeed in a credit-bearing course at a postsecondary institution" (p. 21). Many students who transition from high school are not prepared for the transition to college. Nearly two-thirds of those who enter community colleges and 40% of those entering four-year

institutions are assigned to at least one remedial course, which delays their enrollment into college-level courses (Barnett, 2018). Research has examined what students feel that they need to be college-ready. Many students think they need specific transition skills, including time management (Calhoun et al., 2018), note-taking, and writing (Francis et al., 2018). However, others feel that they need to know the logistics of college life, such as how to select courses, communicate properly with professors, and navigate the college environment (Francis et al., 2018). Even though there are many skills that students feel helped them prepare for college, once they make the transition, there are some elements of college life about which they are still unsure.

Many high schools in the United States aim to get students college- and career-ready. School districts fulfill this goal by offering dual enrollment college preparatory programs, such as traditional dual enrollment courses, advanced placement courses, the International Baccalaureate (IB) program, ECHSs, and summer bridge programs. Each of these dual enrollment college preparatory programs provides students with the opportunity to gain college credit hours while in high school (Lile et al., 2018; Troutman et al., 2018; Zeiser, 2019). It provides students with a pathway to gain a head start on their future while working towards technical certificates or associate degrees. Research shows several benefits to acquiring a college degree, including financial compensations such as health insurance, more vacation hours, and pensions (Kim & Tamborini, 2019). Even if the student only earns an associate degree, they tend to make more money than students who just have a high school diploma (Kim & Tamborini, 2019).

A high school student's transition to college and the effects of different college preparatory programs are considered frequently in research. There are several high school

programs where students can gather college credit, including dual enrollment, or attend an ECHS. However, a gap exists in the literature when looking at an ECHS's perceived impact on a student's transition to college. By examining the experiences of students who attend an ECHS in the South, we can more fully understand the transition to college for an ECHS graduate. The information gathered can then help us better understand the impact of Schlossberg's (1981) four S factors – situation, support, self, and strategies – when examining a student's transition.

#### **CHAPTER THREE: METHODS**

#### Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to present a clearer understanding of the experiences of graduates of an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university. This chapter will examine the research design and why it is a good fit for this study as well as present the research questions. The setting and participants are discussed, and the data collection process is outlined. Data analysis techniques are presented, and the trustworthiness and ethical considerations regarding the study are discussed. At the conclusion of the chapter, a summary will be included.

## Research Design

Qualitative research gives insight into people's beliefs, experiences, attitudes, behaviors, and interactions (Pathak et al., 2013). Research such as this uses words and open-ended questions to examine individuals' or groups' meaning to a social or human problem (Creswell, 2018). There are several qualitative design options, but phenomenology is the type of qualitative research used for this study because it will look at the experiences of students who graduated from an early college high school and their transition to a four-year university. Phenomenology deals with describing others' perceptions and experiences. Specifically, transcendental phenomenology will be used to look at a person's lived experience and uncover the meaning of their experiences (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018).

Developed by Edmund Husserl, transcendental phenomenology looks at a phenomenon, how it is seen, and how they appear to our consciousness (Moustakas, 1994). Intentionality plays a big part in transcendental phenomenology. For a person to be intentional, they must be present with themselves and the things in the world. It is essential for the person to recognize that the

world and self are inseparable (Moustakas, 1994). Two things make up intentionality: noema and noesis. Noema deals with the phenomenon and what is being experienced. Noesis deals with the act of perceiving, thinking, and feeling. For there to be a noesis, there first has to be a noema to which it relates. Intuition is also a key component of transcendental phenomenology. Husserl said intuition "is the presence to consciousness of an essence, with all that implies by way of necessity and universal validity" (Moustakas, 1994, p.33).

While there is a great extent of research discussing transitions that people face, there is little research regarding high school students who attend an ECHS, graduate with an associate degree, and transfer to a four-year university. Transcendental phenomenology is an appropriate design for this research because it will examine students' experiences attending an ECHS and their transitions to a four-year university (Moustakas, 1994). Specifically, this study examines the individual (internal) factors and institutional (external) factors that help or hinder a student's transition. The students' experiences detail their transition and provide insight into what the students experienced and the knowledge they gained from their transitions, which makes a qualitative method the right choice for this study.

## **Research Questions**

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of participants of an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university. The research questions are divided into one central research question and three sub-questions.

# **Central Research Question**

How do graduates of an ECHS in the South describe their experiences with transitioning to a four-year university?

# **Sub-Question One**

Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the time prior to enrollment, called the moving-in process?

# **Sub-Question Two**

Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the period of enrollment, called the moving through process?

# **Sub-Question Three**

Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the time after their first semester, called the moving out process?

## **Setting and Participants**

The early college high school, located on the Southern Community College campus, was the location for this study. The participants were students who attended the early college high school, graduated, and transferred to a four-year university. Ten to twelve participants were included in this study, which examined the experiences of students attending an ECHS on their transitions to a four-year university.

#### Site

The setting for this study was the early college high school located on the Southern Community College campus. The Southern Community College is located in the southern region of the United States with an average enrollment of 1,100 students, with 57% of the students

needing remediation. The student population comprises 68% female and 32% male, with 41% of the students being a minority and 82% receiving financial aid. Only 21% of the students who attend the Southern Community College enter directly from high school.

The Southern Community College partners with several different school districts to provide dual enrollment opportunities for their students, but the collegiate high school is in partnership with two school districts. One of the collegiate high schools is located on the main campus, while the other is located on the satellite campus. The Southern Community College is located in a community with 10,000 people, and several other community colleges and four-year universities are within driving distance. Students can pursue many programs of study, with the Associate of Arts in General Studies being the degree that the collegiate high school students work on completing.

The community college and school district administration work together to make decisions concerning the ECHS. The school district pays for the students to participate in the ECHS, including paying for their college-level courses. The students apply to the collegiate high school and, if accepted, start the program during their 10th-grade year. Students attend classes instructed by college professors and follow a college schedule. A college administrator and district liaison work with the students daily. They support the students to help them navigate the college, stay on track to graduate high school and college, and keep the district and community college administration apprised with how the students are doing as they progress through their courses. The student population of the ECHS includes students of all races, but the majority are considered to be of low socioeconomic status, with several of the students being first-generation college students.

# **Participants**

The participants in this study were students who have graduated from the Southern Collegiate High School and transferred to a four-year university. These students have transferred to a four-year university as incoming first-years with at least 60 credit hours, making them juniors in their coursework. They have participated in an ECHS, which is a college preparatory program during their 10th- through 12th-grade years. The students comprise different races and socioeconomic statuses. Some are first-generation college students. The sample size for a study depends on the type of qualitative design being used. A phenomenological study may vary in size, from three to four individuals to 10 to 15 (Creswell, 2018). Since this study is phenomenological, the sample size was at least ten individuals. The sample size of participants was between 10 and 12 participants. Purposeful sampling was used because the researcher selects individuals that are convenient and can purposefully provide information to help the researcher better understand the problem (Creswell, 2018).

# **Researcher Positionality**

The social constructivism interpretive framework guided this study in understanding the students' experiences regarding their transition to a four-year university after graduating from an ECHS. Three philosophical assumptions are discussed in this section. The different philosophical assumptions include ontology, epistemology, and axiology. Each of these different assumptions are addressed, including their roles in the research.

## **Interpretive Framework**

Social constructivism deals with the belief that individuals seek to understand the world in which they live (Creswell, 2018). The social constructivism interpretive framework guided this study by examining individuals' multiple meanings to the same lived experience: their

transition to a four-year university (Creswell & Poth, 2018). By understanding the experiences of each participant's individual (internal) factors and institutional (external) factors, this study helps us better understand the meanings the participants have developed about their transition.

Through broad, general, and open-ended interview questions, the participants were given the opportunity to present their experiences and the meanings of their transitions to a four-year university.

# **Philosophical Assumptions**

Philosophical assumptions are beliefs about ontology, epistemology, and axiology.

Ontology deals with the nature of reality. Epistemology deals with knowledge, what counts as knowledge, and what claims about knowledge are justified. Axiology deals with the role of values in research. Each of these philosophical assumptions are described below as well as how they apply to the current study.

## **Ontological Assumption**

Ontological assumptions deal with the nature of reality and its characteristics (Creswell & Poth, 2018). It also deals with the researcher reporting different perspectives about the study as themes develop (Creswell, 2018). There were multiple perspectives gathered from students regarding their transition to a four-year university after graduating from an ECHS. As a result, I used quotes and themes directly from the participant's words and experiences related to their transition from an ECHS to a four-year university.

## Epistemological Assumption

Epistemological assumptions deal with the researcher trying to get close to the participants to understand their personal views (Creswell & Poth, 2018). In order to get close to the participants, I got to know them, collaborate with them, and made sure that they understood

the reason for the research. It was essential to ensure that my views were kept out of the study. The only opinions that were important were the participants. This study worked closely with the participants to gather their experiences regarding their transition to a four-year university after graduation from an ECHS.

# Axiological Assumption

Axiological assumptions deal with the researcher admitting their values and biases (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Qualitative researchers acknowledge that there is value to their research and that biases are present. As a result, I discussed my roles in research, including my histories, beliefs, assumptions about the topic, and how these different components might influence the narrative. I also presented my interpretations and those of the participants to help the readers better understand the context and study.

# Researcher's Role

The researcher's role is to describe the participants' lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I collected data from the participants through a student questionnaire, semi-structured interviews, letter-writing, and focus groups. During the study, it was essential that all biases be bracketed out during the data collection and data analysis so that my assumptions, opinions, and biases did not interfere with the study (Moustakas, 1994). Before going into higher education, I worked as a teacher and administrator in secondary education. During my career in secondary education, I noticed many high school students transition to a four-year university while being unprepared to do so. Some were not prepared academically, but the majority were not ready for the expectations and freedoms of being a college student.

After several years, I was given the opportunity to help develop an ECHS on a community college campus. Because of this, I have a strong interest in ECHSs and ensuring that

they provide students with everything needed to be successful. Since I helped develop an ECHS, it is my belief that they provide students great opportunities, such as getting college courses for free, getting ahead in their education, and introducing the students to the college environment. In order to fully understand the experiences of the study's participants, my personal and professional experiences with ECHSs and transitions to college have to be set aside in order to examine the new data with a fresh perspective (Moustakas, 1994).

This study's participants were students I have previously worked with as their administrator in the ECHS. However, since they have transitioned to a four-year university, I have no authority over them. In order to follow Moustakas's (1994) guidelines for the Epoché, my personal and professional experiences with the students must be set aside. Creswell (2018) explained that shared experiences with participants could skew the data. In order to minimize the data being skewed and ensure that the data was being perceived with a fresh perspective, reflexive journaling was used throughout the data collection process.

## **Procedures**

Once approval from Liberty University's Institutional Review Board, data started to be collected for the study. The participants were selected using purposeful sampling. Consent forms from both the participants and Southern Community College were collected. The participants were contacted, and the data started to be collected through a questionnaire, individual interviews, a letter-writing activity, and focus groups. After the data was collected, it was analyzed using Epoché, phenomenological reduction, and imaginative variation. Textural and structural descriptions were also developed. These descriptions were then put together to give an overall description of "what" the participants experienced and "how" they experienced it (Creswell, 2018).

#### **Permissions**

Approval was obtained from Liberty University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) (Appendix A) to begin the research and the University of Arkansas Hope-Texarkana which was the location where the data collection process occurred (Appendix B). The participants also received an informed consent form before the research began (Appendix C). The informed consent form gave the purpose of the study to the participants and indicated that participating in the study was voluntary and would not place the participants at risk (Creswell, 2018).

#### **Recruitment Plan**

The sample pool for this study was 44 students who graduated from the ECHS at the Southern Community College. The participants were between the age of 18 and 22. They also came from different socioeconomic and racial backgrounds. A phenomenological study may vary in size, from three to four individuals to 10 to 15 (Creswell, 2018). Since this study was a phenomenological study, the sample size was between 10 and 12 participants from the 44 that graduated from the collegiate high school. The sampling was purposeful and convenient since the participants were selected based on convenience and could provide information to help the researcher better understand the problem (Creswell, 2018). The number of participants chosen provided the study with saturation. Saturation occurs when there needs to be no new data collected because the themes and categories determined are saturated, and no further data will provide new insights or reveal new themes or categories (Creswell, 2018).

The students who graduated from the ECHS were contacted by email to explain the study's purpose. The emails included detailed information regarding the study and the informed consent form (Appendix C). The students were informed that if they participate in the study by completing the questionnaire, participating in the interview, the focus groups, and writing the

letter, they would be given a \$20 Amazon gift card.

#### **Data Collection Plan**

To achieve triangulation – that is, the use of multiple different sources to gather evidence and help validate the accuracy (Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Guetterman, 2019) – a questionnaire, a semi-structured interview, letter-writing, and a focus group were used. Data was first collected during the study with the informed consent from each participant (Appendix C). Upon gaining informed consent, each participant was scheduled for their semi-structured interview. At the beginning of the semi-structured interview the students answered a questionnaire (Appendix D) to gather demographic and descriptive data, which provided information about the students. Most of the data was collected during the semi-structured interview, which was recorded and transcribed. The transcriptions were sent to the participants to check for accuracy and provide clarity. After the data was collected, it was then analyzed using Moustakas's process, which includes the Epoché, horizontalization of the data, developing themes, developing a textural description of the experience, developing a structural description, and developing a composite description (Creswell, 2018).

#### **Individual Interviews**

Interviews are the typical data collection procedure for phenomenological studies (Creswell, 2018). Before the interview, I undergone the Epoché process. Epoché deals with a person using a method to eliminate their bias and judgments towards a phenomenon or topic. In transcendental phenomenology, it is essential that the researcher examines the phenomenon through a clear lens and not allow their misconceptions or biases to influence their thoughts regarding the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). Even though it is not a new idea, the phenomenon was examined as if for the first time. During the Epoché, a person goes through a process to clear

their mind to ensure that they are challenged to develop new ideas and thoughts regarding a phenomenon. Reflective journaling was used to bracket any previous experiences before the data collection (Moustakas, 1994).

Interviews were used as the first data collection method to allow the information gathered to guide the letter writing and focus group interviews. The interviews were 30-45 minutes long per participant and were recorded and transcribed. The interviews were conducted face-to-face or through a virtual meeting because of the COVID-19 pandemic. At the beginning of the interview, I ensured that the participants gave informed consent, understood the study, and were reminded that the interview would be recorded. After this, I began the introductions to help make the participant feel more comfortable. Then questions were asked about the participant's experiences of graduating from an ECHS and transferring to a four-year university, specifically looking at the four S factors from Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory. During the interviews, I took notes, and the interviews were digitally recorded. The interviews were then transcribed and sent to the participant. The participant was allowed to provide feedback, clarity, or accuracy.

# Individual Interview Questions

Moving In: Preparing to transition to a four-year university

#### 1. Situation

- a. Tell me about your experience attending a collegiate high school at Southern Community College. SQ1
  - i. How many college credit hours did you have when you graduated high school? SQ1
  - ii. Were your college courses online or face-to-face? SQ1

iii. In what ways did you feel prepared or not prepared for your experiences in college? SQ1

# 2. Support

- a. Tell me about your family. SQ1
  - i. How were they supportive of you while you were in the early college high school? SQ1
  - ii. In what ways were they not supportive of you while you were in the ECHS? SQ1
- b. What did your family think about your wanting to transition to a four-year university? SQ1
  - i. How were they supportive of your decision to transition to a four-year university? SQ1
  - ii. In what ways were they not supportive of your decision to transition to a four-year university? SQ1
- c. What supports did you have while in the ECHS that helped you be successful?SQ1

#### 3. Self

- a. How did you feel about graduating from the ECHS with your associate degree?
   SQ1
- b. How did you feel about getting accepted to a four-year university? SQ1
- c. Have you experienced any change or transition similar to your transition to a fouryear university? SQ1
  - i. If so, how did it go? SQ1

- ii. Was it a successful experience? SQ1
- iii. What helped you to be successful during the experience? SQ1

# 4. Strategies

- a. What strategies did you use to adjust when you first enrolled in the ECHS? SQ1
- b. What strategies did you use when you first transitioned to the four-year university to help you adjust? SQ1
- c. How would you describe the ways you coped with change and transitions? SQ1
   Moving Through: First Semester at the four-year university

## 1. Situation

- a. What was your first-semester at the four-year university like? SQ2
- b. Was the experience positive or negative? Explain. SQ2
- c. How was your first-semester at the four-year university different than the ECHS?
   SQ2

# 2. Support

- a. How was your family supportive during your first semester? SQ2
- b. How was your family not supportive during your first semester? SQ2
- c. How did the institution offer support? SQ2
- d. Where else did you find support during your first semester? Explain. SQ2

## 3. Self

- a. Describe yourself compared to your peers in your classes. SQ2
- b. Describe how you tried to stay positive during your first semester. SQ2

# 4. Strategies

- a. What strategies did you use to help you adapt to your life at the four-year university? SQ2
- b. What supports provided by the institution did you utilize? SQ2
- c. What extra-curricular activities were you involved in? SQ2
- d. What was the hardest thing for you to overcome? How did you try to overcome it? SQ2

Moving Out: Finishing the first semester

# 1. Situation

- a. What was it like finishing your first semester at a four-year university? SQ3
- b. Describe your feelings regarding being done with the first semester. SQ3
- c. Describe what you would have done differently about your first semester. SQ3

# 2. Support

- a. What or who supported you the most as you finished your first semester? SQ3
- b. What supports did you wish you had during your first semester? SQ3

## 3. Self

- a. How did you feel about being done with your first semester? SQ3
- Looking back, how far have you come from when you graduated the ECHS to now? Explain. SQ3

# 4. Strategies

- a. What strategies did you use during your first semester that you plan on using as you continue in school? SQ3
- b. What strategies helped you through your first semester? SQ3

- c. What strategies do you wish you had used as you transitioned to the four-year university? SQ3
- d. If you had to do it again, would you enroll in the ECHS? Why or why not? SQ3
- e. What are some things you wish you would have known about transitioning to a four-year university? SQ3

## **Final Question**

1. What are some things that you feel are essential for me to understand that we might not have previously discussed regarding your transition from a collegiate high school to a four-year university?

Each interview question was developed based on the research questions and the information needed to answer those questions. The interview questions allowed the participants to give their experiences regarding attending an ECHS and their transitions to a four-year university. They described their experiences with the transitions based on the four S factors in Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory: situation, support, self, and strategies (Schlossberg, 1981). The interview questions provided valuable information and data for the central research question, sub-question one, sub-question two, and sub-question three. The interview questions were presented and approved by the committee for this dissertation before asking the participants. If there needed to be any revisions to the questions, those edits were made. All interview questions are open-ended, which provides the participants the opportunity to give rich, thick descriptions of their transition experiences (Creswell, 2018; Moustakas, 1994).

# Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

The data collected during the interview undergone data analysis for a transcendental phenomenology study, including Epoché, phenomenological reduction, imaginative variation,

and textural and structural descriptions (Moustakas, 1994). During the interviews, I used a digital recorder and took notes. Member-checking was used to increase credibility by sending a transcription of each interview to each participant so that they could check for accuracy. After each interview, I completed a reflective journal one to two days after the interview. These reflective journals allowed me to examine the data from the interviews with a clear mind to view the participants' experiences through a new, unbiased lens. The reflective journal allowed me to reflect on the interview and write down my feelings, observations, and potential themes. It also allowed me to write down any biases discovered during the interview, which led to the Epoché. Epoché deals with the researcher bracketing out their experiences or biases towards the phenomenon (Creswell, 2018).

After any personal experiences or biases were bracketed out, the interviews were organized and transcribed using horizontalization. The interviews were first transcribed using horizontalization which included looking at each student's different statements and treating them equally while also finding the irrelevant, overlapping, or repetitive comments, which were then deleted (Creswell, 2018). Relevant expressions to the experience were listed, and then statements that were not relevant to the experience were eliminated. Meaning units were then developed using the horizontalized statements, which were then clustered into common categories, known as themes.

The different themes were then combined with the themes found during the other data collection procedures to develop textural descriptions to synthesize meanings and essences. In order to formulate textural descriptions, imaginative variation was used to create individual structural descriptions. Imaginative variation includes determining the structural and textural meanings, recognizing themes, considering universal structures, and searching for

exemplifications that illustrate the structural themes (Moustakas, 1994). The individual structural description explained how the students experience the transition to a four-year university. Then the textural structural description were developed, which according to Moustakas (1994), is "the intuitive integration of the fundamental textural and structural descriptions into a unified statement of the [meaning and] essences of the experience of the phenomenon as a whole" (p. 100). The different textural and structural descriptions helped readers understand what it was like to experience the phenomenon studied. The findings from the individual interviews were discussed with colleagues and peers to gather a different perspective, increasing the study's credibility through the peer debriefing process.

# **Letter-Writing**

Letter-writing was the second form of data collection. The participants were given the prompt at the end of their semi-structured interview. They were given the opportunity to write the letter before they left or had two weeks to write their letter and email it to me. The prompt for the letter was "When discussing your transition from the early college high school to a four-year university, how would you describe it to a senior currently in the early college high school?" (Appendix F). The information gathered from these letters helped answer the central research question and provide details to answer the sub-questions, depending on the answers. The information collected during the letter-writing activity was used to help guide the focus group interview questions.

## Letter-Writing Data Analysis Plan

After each participant submitted their letter, they were given a copy so they could go through the member-checking process to check for accuracy, increasing the study's credibility.

After the letters were checked for accuracy, I completed a personal reflective journal. I

completed the journal one to two days after reading the letters. The reflective journal allowed me to reflect on the letters and write down feelings, observations, and potential themes. It also allowed me to write down any biases discovered during the interview, which led to the Epoché. Epoché deals with the researcher bracketing out their experiences or biases towards the phenomenon (Creswell, 2018). The Epoché process allowed me to evaluate the data from the letters with a clear mind to view the participants' experiences through a new, unbiased lens.

After any personal experiences or biases were bracketed out, a list of significant statements were developed. The significant statements dealt with how each individual dealt with the phenomenon. These statements were listed as per the horizontalization of the data, and each statement was created equally (Creswell, 2018). Once the statements were listed, any comments irrelevant to the experience were eliminated. Themes were developed based on meaning units, which helped eliminate any repetition. The different themes were then used to create textural, structural, and composite descriptions (Moustakas, 1994). Imaginative variation were used to develop the descriptions by looking at the structural meanings, recognizing themes, considering universal structures, and searching for exemplifications that illustrate the structural themes. After the imaginative variation process, textural structural descriptions were developed. After developing the different descriptions, I went through the peer debriefing process to gather different perspectives from my colleagues and peers.

# **Focus Groups**

A focus group is an effective way to collect data when a group of participants share similarities and have gone through the same experience, and being in the group helps them speak about their experiences (Creswell, 2018). One thing to watch for in a focus group is that one person or several do not dominate the conversation; instead, all participants should be able to

communicate their experiences. The focus group discussion occurred after all the participants wrote their letters. The focus group consisted of two smaller groups of five to six participants. The focus groups occurred virtually because all the students were at different universities.

During the focus groups, I took notes and recorded the discussions. The focus group questions aligned with the individual interview questions but took them further to allow for more in-depth data to be collected. The focus group questions can be found in Appendix G.

# Focus Group Questions

- 1. Take a look at other letters written by other participants. Which ones do you identify with and why do you identify with them?
- 2. Based on your experiences, how can the early collegiate high school better prepare students for the transition to a four-year university? CRQ
- 3. Based on your experiences, what advice would you give an early collegiate high school senior getting ready to transition to a four-year university? CRQ
- 4. Based on your experiences, what advice would you give an early collegiate high school senior during their first semester of college? CRQ
- 5. Based on your experiences, how can four-year universities better support their incoming first-year students better? CRQ
- 6. What are some things you feel are essential for me to understand that we might not have previously discussed regarding your transition from a collegiate high school to a four-year university?

## Focus Group Data Analysis Plan

During the focus group interviews, I used a digital recorder and took notes. Memberchecking was used to increase credibility by sending a transcription of each interview to the participants of each focus group so that they could check for accuracy. After each focus group interview, I completed a personal reflective journal which allowed me to reflect on the interview and write down my feelings, observations, and potential themes. It also allowed me to go through the Epoché process, which included writing down any biases discovered during the interviews. Significant statements were listed, and comments that were irrelevant to the experience were removed. Meaning units were developed using the horizontalized statements, and then themes were created. These statements and themes were combined with those acquired after the questionnaire and the individual interviews to develop textural descriptions. Imaginative variation was used to create textural, structural, and composite descriptions. The findings from the focus groups were discussed with colleagues and peers to gather a different perspective, increasing the study's credibility through peer debriefing.

## **Data Synthesis**

After all the data was collected and personal experiences and biases were bracketed out, a list of significant statements were developed. The significant statements examine how each individual dealt with the phenomenon. The questionnaire, interviews, letter writing, focus groups, and reflective journals were used to determine essential statements. These statements were listed using horizontalization of the data, and each statement was treated equally (Creswell, 2018). Once the statements were listed, themes were developed, eliminating repetition.

Three descriptions were developed during the data analysis: textural, structural, and composite. The textural description deals with what happened and what the participants experienced (Creswell, 2018). The structural description deals with the "how," specifically the setting and context in which the phenomenon occurred (Creswell, 2018). The composite description includes taking both the textural and structural descriptions and putting them together

to give an overall description of "what" the participants experienced and "how" they experienced it (Creswell, 2018). The students' experiences were used to help others better understand a student's transition to a four-year university.

### **Trustworthiness**

According to LeCompte and Goetz (1982), qualitative research has received frequent criticism because it failed to show reliability and validation (Creswell, 2018). This transcendental phenomenological study showed reliability and validation through the use of triangulation. Triangulation is using multiple sources to gather evidence and help validate the accuracy (Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). It did this by providing descriptively rich and thick results which can be used in future studies. Credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability helped support the trustworthiness of the study.

## Credibility

For a study to demonstrate credibility, it must have enough evidence to become persuasive (Creswell, 2018). Credibility is accomplished through triangulation, peer debriefing, and member-checking. The use of triangulation helped develop credibility in this study (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Triangulation also causes the findings to be transferrable and have a thick description, which helps support credibility (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Peer debriefing involves discussing the study and results with colleagues and peers, which allows them to provide a different perspective. Another way to increase credibility is to send each participant a transcription of their interview. This process is considered member-checking because the participants will be allowed to review their recent interview transcription and judge it for accuracy and credibility (Creswell, 2018).

## **Transferability**

A research study is considered transferable if what was studied and the results found can be used in another study (Creswell & Poth, 2018). To develop a transferable study, thick and rich descriptions were used (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The results found in this study can be used to do a quantitative study looking at whether ECHSs help prepare students for a transfer to a four-year university. A follow-up study could also compare students who attended an ECHS and their transition to students who attended a traditional high school and gained college hours at that high school on their transition.

### **Dependability**

Dependability shows that the findings are consistent and can be repeated (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The procedures of this study were supported by literature and were described in great detail to allow others to replicate the study. The triangulation of the data also helps provide the study with dependability by showing that the findings are consistent (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019). Since there were multiple data sources, there were a thick description of the student's experiences regarding their transfer to a four-year university.

# **Confirmability**

Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggest an audit trail, triangulation, and reflexivity to establish confirmability. An audit trail is a transparent description of the research steps taken from the beginning to end. Triangulation was used to develop confirmability. Triangulation uses multiple sources to gather evidence and help validate accuracy (Creswell, 2018; Creswell & Gutterman, 2019). According to Lincoln and Guba (1985), reflexivity includes an attitude of attending systematically to the context of knowledge construction, especially the effect of the researcher, at

every step of the research process. In order to achieve reflexivity in this study, I kept a journal to reflect on the study. I also used the journal to bracket any biases I had in the study.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The study of students' experiences regarding attending an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university was filled with personal experiences and stories. The most important ethical consideration for this study was protecting the data that was collected. The data collected was kept in a locked filing cabinet, and only I had access to it. The data was also kept on a computer in a password-protected folder so that only I could access it. The data was transcribed using pseudonyms for the names and places of those involved in the study. The use of pseudonyms was done to ensure that the identity of the participants, ECHS, and community college was protected.

Informed consent was also an important ethical consideration for this study. An informed consent form includes the right of the participants to withdraw from the study at any point, the purpose and procedures of the study, the protection of confidentiality, any known risks, any expected benefits, and the signature of the participant and researcher (Creswell, 2018). The informed consent form gave the participant important information regarding the study. The participant signed the form if they agreed with all the elements.

#### Summary

This transcendental phenomenological qualitative study looked at the experiences of students who attended an ECHS in the southern United States on their transition to a four-year university. I explored participants' experiences attending the collegiate high school and their transition to a four-year university, including how the individual (internal) and institutional (external) resources either helped or hindered the transition. Data was collected using a

questionnaire, a semi-structured interview, a reflective journal, letter writing, and focus groups. Triangulation of the data was accomplished by using several different data sources. The data was also analyzed using several other methods, including a reflective journal to start developing an Epoché, horizontalization of the data, developing themes, developing a textural description of the experience, developing a structure, and creating a composite description. This data analysis allowed me to create a trustworthy, credible, dependable, and transferrable study (Creswell, 2018).

### **CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS**

#### Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of graduates of an early college high school (ECHS) in the South on their transition to a four-year university. This chapter will examine the data collected using pseudonyms for the students who agreed to participate in the study. The data was analyzed to include themes that address the research questions in this study. This chapter concludes with a summary of the study results and composite textural and structural descriptions of the experiences of graduates of an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university.

## **Participants**

This study was conducted with the assistance of 11 participants who had graduated from the Southern Collegiate High School, then transferred and completed a semester at a four-year university. The students transferred to a four-year university as incoming first-years with at least 60 credit hours, making them juniors in their coursework.

## Alison

Alison graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2021 with 63 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 26,000 students. She is majoring in anthropology and took 15 college credit hours during her first semester. Her parents are married, and she has three siblings. Her parents attended college, with only her mother completing college and graduate school. Alison shared, "I was not prepared to attend the ECHS because I came from a private school, and the curriculum there did not challenge me at all." While at the ECHS, Alison shared that "I felt challenged, but I didn't feel like I was struggling." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the

ECHS, Alison shared, "My mom was really invested and helpful. Both my parents overall helped provide the resources I needed." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she responded:

I think it is a good and bad idea. I personally felt really burnt out transferring to the four-year university. It was a new area with new people. Going from a small college to a large college and doing all the work made me feel like I had been in school for a long time. If you feel like you are up to the challenge of an ECHS, then do it. However, it is a lot harder than you realize.

### Tia

Tia graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2022 with 71 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 9,000 students. She majors in speech communications with a minor in accounting and military science. During her first semester, she was enrolled in 16 college credit hours. Her parents are divorced, and she has a brother and a younger sister. Her mother completed college with a bachelor's degree, and her father completed an associate degree. Tia shared, "The ECHS gave me a sense of discipline, specifically on the online courses. I also participated in a lot of extracurricular activities at the local high school, which taught me time management and responsibility." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Tia shared, "My parents were supportive of me in the ECHS. They understood when I couldn't attend events because I had to study or do homework." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she responded, "I think it is a good idea. It gives you a step up. You are also able to network, and you learn the expectations of a college campus."

## **Kylie**

Kylie graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2021 with 63 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 1,120 students. She is majoring in addiction studies/therapy. During her first semester, she was enrolled in 12 college credit hours. Her parents are divorced but remarried, and she has several siblings. Neither her mom nor dad attended college, but both graduated high school. Kylie shared that "I had a really good experience at the ECHS. However, I was not prepared for the homework load at the ECHS compared to my previous school." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Kylie said, "My family was very encouraging and pushed me to do my best." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she responded:

I think for the right student it is a really good idea. The ECHS taught me time management, communication skills, and how to study. However, if you are struggling at the regular high school, I don't recommend trying something harder. The ECHS would not be a good fit for you.

### Crystal

Crystal graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2021 with 63 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 8,244 students. She is majoring in nursing, and during her first semester, she was enrolled in 15 college credit hours. Her parents are married, and she has a younger brother. Both parents graduated high school, but her mom was the only one to attend college, and she did not graduate. Crystal shared, "I was not prepared for the course load and the amount of work you have to put in when I transitioned to the ECHS. I was also not prepared for the time management needed to be successful." Crystal

explained, "I went from being a traditional high school student and not having to worry about studying to being an ECHS student, where I had to learn how to study and focus so I could pass the classes." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Crystal shared that "My family was very supportive. Everything that I needed, they either provided it for me or could help me get it. They also encouraged me." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she responded, "It is a great opportunity. If a student decides that is what they want to do, they need to be prepared to study and use their time wisely."

### Casey

Casey graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2022 with 60 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 26,000 students. He is majoring in computer engineering, and during his first semester, he was enrolled in 15 hours but dropped to 11 hours after he withdrew from a course. His parents are divorced, and he is the only child. Both parents graduated from high school, and his mom took some college courses but didn't finish a degree. Casey shared, "At first, I had to get used to the differences in the workload at the ECHS compared to what I was used to from the traditional high school. The expectations were different from the school district to the ECHS." At the ECHS, all his classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Casey shared, "My mom could tell when I was stressed, and she would comfort me in times of need. She was very supportive of me." When asked about his thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, he responded:

It is something that every high school needs to offer to some extent. Since I transferred with at least 60 college credit hours, I didn't have to take the basic core classes that a freshman has to take, so I could take what I wanted for my major.

# Morgan

Morgan graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2022 with 62 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 3,160 students. She is majoring in elementary education, and during her first semester, she was enrolled in 16 college credit hours. Her dad graduated high school and took some college courses, and her stepmom graduated college with a bachelor's degree. She also has a younger brother. Morgan shared:

I enjoyed the small setting at the ECHS. I didn't know what to expect when I first started at the ECHS because it was a different environment with different expectations. I had taken advanced classes at the high school, which helped prepare me for the workload at the ECHS.

At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Morgan shared, "My parents were really supportive and definitely wanted me to go to the ECHS so I could get my associate degree for free. They pushed me to make the best grades I could." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she stated, "I think it is a good idea because you can get ahead and get the core classes out of the way."

#### Andrea

Andrea graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2021 with 60 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 26,000 students. She is majoring in studio art, and during her first semester, she was enrolled in 15 college credit hours.

Her biological father passed away. She lives with her mom, who took several college classes but decided to stay home with her and her brother. Andrea shared, "I was not prepared for all the work in the ECHS that I would have to do after class, like studying and homework." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Andrea shared that "My mom would encourage me and tell me that I could do it." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she stated, "I think it is a good idea, but it is also very challenging and tough and not for everyone. Some people are just not ready for it."

## Amy

Amy graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2022 with 66 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 26,000 students. She is majoring in pre-nursing, and during her first semester, she was enrolled in 12 college credit hours. Her parents are married, and she has one sibling. Her dad went to college and graduated with an associate degree, and her mom took a few college courses but did not finish. Amy shared, "I was not prepared for the workload or homework at the ECHS. At the district school, we didn't have to study, and we didn't have homework." Amy went on to explain, "I absolutely enjoyed the ECHS. I got a free associate degree which saved my family and me a lot of money. I also learned how college life works." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Amy shared, "My parents were very supportive and knew that the ECHS was a great opportunity for my future goals and plans. They were very encouraging." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she stated, "I think it is an awesome opportunity."

#### Sarah

Sarah graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2022 with 67 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 26,000 students. She is majoring in nursing, and during her first semester, she was enrolled in 15 college credit hours. Her parents are divorced but got remarried, and she has several siblings. Her dad never went to college, but her mom took a few classes and then dropped out when she had Sarah but went back to finish. Sarah shared, "The regular high school did not prepare students for the jump in rigor and expectations that came with the ECHS." Sarah went on to explain, "I really liked the ECHS. There weren't a lot of students, so we were all really close. The teachers were amazing and helped us out a lot." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Sarah shared, "My parents were very supportive and showed up to every event that they could attend. They also understood that I had to stay up late sometimes to work on assignments to get them done." When asked about her thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school, she stated:

I think it is a really good decision not only because you are getting the college classes but also because in a lot of the public schools, you are not learning what you should be learning. There is no rigor or preparation for college at the local schools.

### Madison

Madison graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2021 with 63 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 2,352 students. She is majoring in psychology with a minor in art. During her first semester, she was enrolled in 15 college credit hours. Her parents are married, and she has a sister and a brother. Her mom has her GED, and her dad did not finish high school. Madison shared, "I was really prepared for the

transition to the ECHS. I felt prepared because I knew what people expected of me and what I was getting myself into." At the ECHS, all her classes were face-to-face, with only a few online courses. While in the ECHS, Madison shared, "My parents were very supportive. Even if they saw me crying, they would support me by encouraging me and telling me I could do it." When asked what her thoughts were on high school students attending an early college high school, she stated:

I think it is a good idea. It helped me mature faster and see what my teachers expected from me. Some high school students entering college at a young age can benefit, but it doesn't work for some.

#### Jake

Jake graduated from Southern Collegiate High School in 2022 with 73 hours and transferred to a four-year university with an average enrollment of 9,000 students. He is majoring in mechanical engineering, and during his first semester, he was enrolled in 15 college credit hours. His parents are divorced. His dad took some college courses, but his stepmom completed a graduate degree. He also has a younger stepsister. Jake shared, "I was not prepared for the college environment because I had always been around a regular public school environment." He shared, "The ECHS was a little bit challenging at first, but then it got better after we learned about the college expectations and rigor." At the ECHS, all his classes were face-to-face, with only a few online classes. While in the ECHS, Jake shared:

My parents were supportive. They would take me to and from school and bring me to different events. They would also help pay for things if they needed to, but the majority of everything was paid for by the school district.

When asked about his thoughts on students attending an early college high school, he stated, "It is a great opportunity. It exposes you to experiences you wouldn't have any knowledge about coming straight from the regular high school regarding the college experience and expectations."

#### Results

The results of this qualitative transcendental phenomenological study are reported in detail using the participants' actual descriptive words as they explained their experiences with the transition to a four-year university after graduating from an ECHS in the South. The research process for this study included a student questionnaire, a one-on-one interview, a letter-writing activity, a focus group, and triangulation of the data to validate the collected data. Data analysis was completed with the research questions as the focus while utilizing the three stages of the transition theory. There were four primary themes, with eleven sub-themes. The four primary themes include 1) Self-Awareness; 2) Academic Preparation; 3) College Awareness; 4) Relationships. Each of these primary themes has several sub-themes, which can be seen in Table 1.

Table 1

Themes and Sub-Themes of a Student's Transition

#### **Self-Awareness**

Accomplished Mindset Growth

### **Academic Preparation**

Time Management Study Skills Communication Skills

## **College Awareness**

College Environment College Expectations College Involvement

## Relationships

Family Friends

### **Self-Awareness**

The participants' self-awareness was different before their transition, during their transition, and after their transition. They each identify in different ways when it comes to graduating with their associate degree, starting their first semester at the four-year university, and finishing their first semester at the four-year university. Each participant figures out more about themselves as they progress through the various changes and transitions. All the participants felt a sense of accomplishment, a change in their mindset, and experienced growth as they moved through the three stages of their transition.

## Accomplished

Each participant felt a sense of accomplishment after finishing the ECHS and graduating with their associate degree. Kylie and Madison had doubts that they would make it at times, but once Kylie walked across the stage at graduation, she felt like she had accomplished something. Alison was excited to graduate and was ready to move to a new town. Jake was reminded that graduating with his associate degree was something many high school students could not say they had done, which gave him a sense of accomplishment. At the same time, Kylie stated, "I am proud of myself, and this is a big accomplishment because I don't know anybody else that has done this." Even though Tia was excited to graduate with her associate degree, she stated:

I felt I had taken advantage of the situation because I remembered all the traditional students I was in classes with and how they were older and still working towards their degrees while I finished high school.

Amy pointed out that she loved graduating with her associate degree but stated, "Some people didn't think it was a good idea because I was young and would be going off to college to take classes with 21-year-old students."

#### Mindset

The transition to a four-year university had positives and negatives for each participant. Even though all the participants felt that they were academically prepared for the transition, there were some things they figured out about themselves. Casey transitioned to the four-year university with a major in mind, but once he started taking courses, he realized he wanted to major in something else. Tia found that due to her experiences at the ECHS, she was able to help others with their transition. "A lot of freshmen came to me asking questions on how to email instructors or how to handle certain class. I really enjoyed being able to help them and answer

their questions." stated Tia. Many participants expressed that being away from their family and friends was the hardest thing for them when they transitioned. Kylie described this difficulty as, "The hardest part to transitioning was getting acclimated to a new environment and being away from family. Not just family but everybody you are comfortable with and know."

Transitioning to a four-year university can be challenging for students, especially due to moving away from family and being in a new environment. Many participants thought back on past semesters in the ECHS to stay positive during their transition to the four-year. Tia stated, "I would think back on past semesters and what I accomplished and know that I could do it." Some students, including Kylie and Crystal, would take time to do things other than just being a student. Going to the gym, hanging with friends, taking walks around campus, or driving around campus were ways they would take a break when they needed to stay positive. Madison stated, "I would remind myself that this is just temporary. Tomorrow will be a better day." when she would get stressed or needed to remind herself to be positive. Morgan stated, "I would remember how lucky I was to be able to go to college." when she would need to shift her mindset.

#### Growth

Finishing the first semester for the participants was a time of relief, excitement, and accomplishment. All participants were happy to make it through the first semester, but Tia stated, "I was sad because I enjoyed my classes and the people in them. I didn't know if I would have classes with them again." Even though the first semester was difficult for some of the students, Amy stated, "I was proud of myself for not giving up because it was difficult." Crystal immediately started to think about future classes saying, "I was worried about future classes once I completed the first semester." Some participants felt that completing the first semester boosted their confidence, including Madison, who stated, "I was happy because it made me realize I

could do it." Even though some students felt that the first semester at the four-year university was difficult, Casey stated, "I was glad the first semester was over, but it wasn't too bad and not nearly as difficult as I thought it would be."

Each participant felt they had come a long way from graduating from the ECHS. Many participants, including Andrea, Amy, Morgan, Crystal, and Kylie, described themselves as more mature and confident. Casey stated, "I have grown socially since there are so many people here at the university that I have to interact with every day. My communication skills have also improved." Some participants have jobs while attending school, which has caused them to feel more like adults. Kylie stated, "I'm a grown-up now. I go to work and go to school and pay my own bills. I feel more mature." Several participants, including Alison, Madison, and Casey, know what they want to do as a career and what they want to do with their lives after they finish college and graduate with their bachelor's degrees.

## **Academic Preparation**

During each participant's time at the ECHS, they were taught different skills to help them be successful. These various skills helped the students to feel academically prepared for their transition and their first semester at their four-year university. All the participants expressed that the skills they learned in the ECHS helped them have a smoother transition to the four-year university. According to Kylie, "The ECHS helped me build skills I needed for my transition to a four-year university." The different skills the participants discussed throughout the data collection that helped them be academically prepared for their transition to a four-year university and helped them make it through their first semester included time management, study skills, and communication skills.

## Time Management

Time management was an essential skill that all participants discussed. All the participants felt that time management was a skill they developed in the ECHS that significantly impacted their first semester at their four-year university. Tia stated, "The ECHS taught student time management and responsibility." Jake explained that time management at the four-year university is more crucial than at the collegiate academy. "Time management is more important here at the four-year university because we are held fully responsible. There is no one reminding us to do our assignments or holding our hands," stated Jake.

A few participants, including Sarah, Crystal, and Kylie, have jobs, so managing their time and keeping up with their schoolwork is crucial for them to pass their classes and keep their jobs. Each participant manages their time in different ways. One way Madison manages her time is by organizing her schedule and assignments. It helps Morgan to write down all of her projects and then place them in a calendar. Many of the participants discussed the use of planners and calendars to keep up with their assignments. Kylie stated, "I make a to-do list that includes blocks of scheduling to keep up with my assignments for my online courses." Amy considers time management when she schedules her courses. She keeps her classes in the morning so that she has the afternoon set aside to work on assignments and her online classes. Being involved in extracurriculars or online courses requires time management. According to Tia, "With the majority of my classes being online, it is crucial to be able to manage my time. I'm also involved in ROTC, and it is important that I make sure to manage my time with assignments and my extracurricular activities."

### Study Skills

During the participants' time at the ECHS, they all expressed that they had learned how to study and that they were not accustomed to studying before the ECHS. During the transition to a four-year university, the study skills the students learned in the ECHS were essential for the students during their first semester. Many participants used different study skills, but Crystal explained that she used index cards, rewrote notes, and studied with peers. Study groups with peers and peer tutoring were brought up several times as ways that the participants would study in the ECHS but also used at the four-year university to which they transitioned. Casey explained, "I developed a support group among my peers. I would study more and study with other people more."

When the participants compared themselves to other students their age that just transitioned to college, they explained that they were better prepared because they knew how to study. Many of their classmates their age complained about the workload and didn't know where to begin when it came to studying. Even though the participants knew how to study, social pressures sometimes would get in the way and prevent some from studying. Madison explained, "I wish I would have studied more during my first semester. Once I found my peers, I wanted to hang out with them more which got in the way of my study time." Some participants explained that their study location affected their study time. Sarah explained that she needed to get out of her room to study so she would not get distracted. "I needed to get with friends and study in the library or coffee shops instead of my dorm room," stated Sarah.

#### Communication Skills

Being able to communicate with instructors, schedule tutoring sessions, and schedule meetings with instructors was mentioned several times by many of the participants. According to Tia:

I was better prepared for the transition to the four-year university than my peers because I knew how to take notes, ask questions, and communicate with my instructors, which the freshmen in my seminar class did not know how to do.

Tia and Casey discussed being more confident in their communication skills because they attended the ECHS. During the participants' time at the ECHS, they were taught how to email their instructors, visit their instructors during their office hours, and reach out for help when they were struggling with the content. Casey stated, "I was used to meeting with instructors because of the ECHS, and my peers were not." At the ECHS, the participants were used to the same instructors for multiple courses because it was located on a community college campus. Because of this, Kylie explained that it was a little more difficult at the four-year because they had different instructors for each course, and they had to learn each instructor's communication style and expectations.

Due to the size of the four-year university that some of the participants transitioned to, they reached out to their instructors later in the semester than they should have. Several participants expressed that they would communicate with their instructors sooner and ask for help if they could go back and redo the first semester. Casey explained that communicating with instructors and peers helped him figure out what he wanted to do with his life going forward. Some of the participants felt weird asking for help from their instructors due to being in a new environment but realized they had to reach out if they were going to succeed.

## **College Awareness**

While at the ECHS, all the participants expressed that they were taught about the college environment, rigor, involvement, and expectations. During their transition due to their college awareness, all the participants found the transition to a four-year university easier. Morgan stated, "Attending the ECHS made the transition to a four-year university easier because you get the experience of a college environment, how a college schedule is set up, get used to the extra workload, and it gives you a head start." Due to the college awareness the participants experienced through the ECHS, they all felt better prepared during their transition to the four-year university and their first semester.

## College Environment

According to many of the participants, getting accustomed to the college environment is one of the benefits of the ECHS. Amy and Tia expressed, "I was used to the environment and expectations of a college campus due to the ECHS." Tia went on to say, "Going to the ECHS helped break the fear of going to a four-year university because I had already done two years of college and was used to the environment." All the participants felt better prepared to transition to a four-year university because they attended the ECHS. Andrea said, "I felt better prepared because I knew what to expect with the college environment and rigor."

Even though the participants felt that the ECHS helped get them accustomed to the college environment, there were still struggles with the transition. Several participants, including Amy, Casey, Sarah, and Alison, explained that they were used to the college environment at the ECHS, but the environment was different at their four-year university because it was much larger. According to Amy, "The classes were bigger, with some classes having 300 students in them." Casey explained, "The change in environment was the hardest for me. Going from a

small community college to a large university was a drastic change." For some participants, there wasn't much difference between the ECHS environment and the four-year university. According to Kylie, "My university is similar to the ECHS in the way that the classes are set up, the teaching style used by the instructors, and the class sizes."

### College Expectations

The college expectations between the ECHS and the four-year universities the participants transitioned to had similarities and differences. According to Jake, "I have complete freedom and responsibility for everything that I did at the four-year university. If I mess up, I have to deal with it. Nobody is holding my hand." Sarah explained, "I have more responsibilities at the four-year university. I don't have people reminding me to do things and to study as I did at the ECHS." Even though there is more freedom at the four-year colleges, many of the participants felt the academic expectations were the same. Andrea explained, "The ECHS and my four-year university were similar because of the teacher expectations and academic structure." Morgan said, "The classes and workload at my four-year university were not a struggle because I was used to it due to the ECHS." Tia stated, "Classes at my four-year university were easier because I was used to the college rigor and expectations I learned at the ECHS."

At the ECHS, the instructors understood that the students were still high school students while they were taking their college courses. Madison explained:

At the ECHS, the instructors knew that we were still high school students at the same time that we were college students. However, when you transition to a four-year university, they are more strict and treat you like an adult. You either turn in your assignments or you don't. It is your responsibility.

Morgan stated, "Your professors will tell you one time about an assignment, and it is up to you to remember. There are no remind messages or reminder emails." Many participants explained the importance of office hours with their instructors if they were struggling or signing up for tutoring sessions to receive assistance. Tia explained, "Developing a relationship with your professors is important. Schedule a tutoring session. Nobody is going to talk bad about you if you need tutoring."

### College Involvement

Many participants wished they had gotten more involved on the college campus during their first semester. Each participant explained how the different four-year universities provided a freshman week the first week they moved to campus. During this time, they were taught about the campus, the various resources available, and ways to get involved on campus. Andrea explained:

During the first week, make sure to get out, meet people, and try things on campus. The first week is usually when everyone comes out to try things. There will be people in the same boat as you. It might be awkward, but you won't be the only one feeling that way. If nothing comes of it, try again.

The participants explained that it was a great time to meet other students their age during freshman week events. Crystal explained, "I met many students that were my age, but since I was a Junior in hours, I never saw those students again because I was taking courses with upperclassmen." Most of the participants were also placed in a freshman seminar course which taught them how to be college students and about the campus. Jake explained that his instructor in his freshman seminar course became like a mentor and was someone he could go to and ask questions and receive advice.

A few of the participants were involved in extracurricular activities, including ROTC, band, robotics, student ministries, and several clubs, while the majority of the participants were not involved in any extracurricular activities on campus. Kylie stated, "If I could go back and do something different, I would join clubs and attend more events to meet people. Students need to make connections. If you don't, it feels like it is hard to catch up and fit in somewhere." Many participants also explained how easy it was to stay in their dorm room instead of going out and getting involved on campus. According to Jake, "It is really easy to stay in your room and do nothing instead of getting involved on campus. One of the hardest things to overcome when you do that is not staying bored."

### Relationships

Relationships with family, peers, and friends were essential to each participant's transition. Kylie stated, "Transitioning to a four-year is tough emotionally. School becomes more than a school; it becomes home, your primary socialization spot, and it is still where you have to go to school." All the participants expressed the importance of a strong support system at home and with their peers and classmates.

## **Family**

Family support was expressed as a critical component to the success of the participants before their transition, during their transition, and after their transition. Even though each participant has different family dynamics, they each expressed the importance of their families support. While attending the ECHS, each participant said their parents were very supportive. Tia explained how there were times when she was not able to participate in a family event or outside activities due to schoolwork and needing to study. She stated, "My parents understood there were times I had to stay home and do homework or study for a test that was taking place the next

day." Some participants explained how their parents provided emotional support, including Casey, who stated, "My mom was very supportive and encouraging. She noticed when I was stressed and comforted me in times of need." Another word many participants, including Andrea, Crystal, and Madison, brought up is encouraging, which they used to describe their family's support while they were in the ECHS. Many participants said they would talk to their parents daily during the transition to a four-year university. Not only would their parents call and check in on them, but according to Tia, Alison, and Casey, they would also provide financial support. Most participants felt their families supported them the most throughout their first semester and as they finished their first semester.

#### Friends

Having a support system besides your family while in the ECHS and transitioning to a four-year university was discussed by many participants. Sarah stated, "Friends and peers were a big support when I was in the ECHS. We would study together and do homework together." According to Jake, "Older peers helped me while I was in the ECHS because they had already been through what I was going through." Crystal also utilized peer tutoring when she struggled with any of her courses. In addition, the class sizes were also smaller at the ECHS, which, according to Casey and Sarah, allowed the students to be more like a family and community.

After transitioning to a four-year university, some participants discussed their current university providing them with peer mentors. "Every two weeks, I would meet with my peer mentor to discuss how I was doing in my classes. My mentor was an upperclassman assigned to me by the engineering department." stated Casey. All participants stressed the importance of leaving your dorm and making friends. Some participants transferred to a four-year university where they didn't know anyone, while others transferred with a group of friends. Sarah

transferred with several friends and explained how important a strong support system with peers and friends is when you transfer to a four-year university. "Having a strong friend group was very helpful for me. We would make sure that we got with each other once a week to have supper. It helped me with being far away from family," stated Sarah.

The participants that transitioned without friends explained how difficult it was because they had to go out and meet people. Madison stated, "Transitioning to a four-year university will cause you to go out of your comfort zone by making new friends, going to new places, and communicating with different people." Many participants explained that they wished they would have gotten out of their dorm more, talked with more people, and attempted to make friends sooner in the semester. Morgan explained, "I would have gotten out more and made more friends. I didn't leave my dorm much, and I regret that." Kylie stated:

Everyone needs to go and meet new people. If you need help, ask the people around you. You need to talk to people and get used to talking to people you don't know. The whole time you are trying to make friendships, it might be awkward for everyone. Just keep doing it.

### **Outlier Data and Findings**

Outliers consist of unexpected findings and themes that do not align with specific research questions or themes found in this study. There are two outliers that will be discussed in this section.

### Outlier Finding #1

One student in the study transitioned from a private school to the ECHS. Due to this, she was not used to being in the public school setting. There are also several differences in the curriculum and expectations between private and public schools. Since she attended a private

school she had a different experience with her transition to the ECHS. Alison felt that she was not prepared for the transition to the ECHS. She didn't feel challenged at the private school and described learning about content in the ECHS that was not covered in the private school. Due to this she felt at a disadvantage.

### Outlier Finding #2

Another outlier was that Sarah was used to transitioning due to going to different schools throughout her public school education. Sarah described her earlier education as involving attending several different public schools. Since she had experienced transitions before, she had a different experience with her transition to the ECHS and her transition to the four-year university. She described that going to the ECHS and transitioning to the four-year university was like moving to a new school which she had done at least seven times. Sarah said, "I was used to experiencing new environments and new people."

## **Research Question Responses**

This research study was guided by a central research question and three sub-research questions. Using the qualitative data that was collected through the student questionnaires, the semi-structured interviews, the letter-writing activity, and the focus group interviews, the central and sub-research questions were addressed. Participant quotes are used throughout this section to support the responses to the research questions.

### **Central Research Question**

The themes and sub-themes discussed previously that were determined by the analysis of the data helped to answer the research questions that were the focus of this study. The central research question of this study asked: How do graduates of an ECHS in the South describe their experiences with transitioning to a four-year university? The sub-questions that used

Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory help answer this central question. The following sections of this chapter provide information on how the themes and sub-themes discussed in the previous section answer the research questions of this study.

# **Sub-Question One**

The first sub-question asked: Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the time prior to enrollment, called the moving-in process? This question looks at the participants' experiences during the moving-in stage of a transition, specifically through the lens of Schlossberg's four S's (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

**Situation.** The first S deals with the participants' situation at the time of the transition. All the participants have graduated from the southern collegiate high school with at least 60 college credit hours. All the participants discussed how attending the ECHS helped prepare them to transition to a four-year university. Morgan stated:

Attending the ECHS made the transition to a four-year university easier because I got the experience of a college environment, how a college schedule is set up, got used to the extra workload, and it gave me a head start.

Support. The participants' support during the moving-in process came from their family and friends. Each participant expressed that they had strong family support while in the ECHS. They also described how encouraging their parents were during their time at the ECHS. Casey stated, "My mom was very supportive and encouraging. She noticed when I was stressed and comforted me in times of need." All the participants' parents supported them in attending the ECHS due to the benefits they would receive, including an associate degree for free. The

participants also received support from their friends and peers. Jake stated, "Older peers helped because they had already been through what the younger ones were going through."

**Self.** During the moving-in process, all the participants felt a sense of accomplishment after graduating with their associate degree. Jake was reminded that graduating with an associate degree is something many high school students cannot say they have done. Even though a few students, including Kylie and Madison, had doubts they would finish due to the program's difficulty, they could look back and be proud of what they had accomplished once they crossed the stage. Kylie stated, "I am proud of myself, and this is a big accomplishment because I don't know anybody else that has done this."

Strategies. There were different strategies that the participants used to help them cope with the moving-in process. All the participants felt they were not prepared to start at the ECHS. Due to this, they had to work on different strategies including time management, organization, communication, and study skills to help them succeed. Tia stated, "The ECHS taught student time management and responsibility." Many participants explained different ways to manage their time, including planners, calendars, and to-do lists. Casey explained, "The ECHS helped me learn the college environment, expectations, rigor, and how to talk to my instructors."

## **Sub-Question Two**

The second sub-question asked: Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the period of enrollment, called the moving through process? This question looks at the participants' experiences during the moving through stage of a transition, specifically through the lens of Schlossberg's four S's (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

**Situation.** During the first semester at the four-year university, all the participants felt that they were better prepared than the other classmates their age. Tia stated:

I was better prepared than the other peers the same age as me. They didn't know how to take notes, were scared to ask questions, and didn't know how to communicate with their teacher.

All the participants felt that they were better prepared because of attending the ECHS. The ECHS taught them skills, including time management, study skills, and communication skills that they needed to be successful at the four-year university. Sarah explained, "I was better prepared. I knew how to work the online platform. I knew how to study, manage my time, and was used to the college environment." The one thing that all the participants found to be difficult during the first semester was being away from their families. Morgan stated, "The first semester was a little hard because I was having to get used to being away from my family." Even though all the participants thought being away from their families was challenging, they mostly thought the first semester was not much different than the ECHS.

Support. The students had several different support systems during their first semester at the four-year university. All the participants explained that their families were very supportive and that they would talk to them every day. According to Tia, Alison, and Casey, their families would also provide them with financial support when needed. The institution also gave support through advisors, instructors, and mentors. "Every two weeks, I would meet with my peer mentors to discuss how I was doing in my classes. My mentor was an upperclassman assigned to me by the engineering department," Stated Casey. Having a support system besides your family was discussed by many participants. Sarah explained, "Having a strong friend group was very helpful for me. We would make sure that we got with each other once a week to have supper. It

helped me with being far away from family." All participants discussed the importance of leaving their dorm rooms, meeting people, and making friends. Kylie stated:

Everyone needs to go and meet new people. If you need help, ask the people around you. You need to talk to people and get used to talking to people you don't know. The whole time you are trying to make friendships, it might be awkward for everyone. Just keep doing it.

Self. During the first semester, all the participants discussed ways to cope with the transition and ensure they had a positive mindset. Tia explained, "I would think back on past semesters and what I accomplished and know that I could do." Some participants even described ways to take their minds off their stresses by going out with friends, walking around campus, going to the gym, or taking a short drive around campus. Morgan would remind herself of how lucky she was that she could even transfer to a four-year university and go to college. Madison stated, "I would tell myself tomorrow will be a better day; this is only temporary." Even though all the participants felt they were academically prepared for the first semester, some figured out different things about themselves. Casey transitioned with a specific major in mind, but once he started taking courses, he realized he wanted to major in something else. Tia found out that she was able to help others with their transition because of her experiences at the ECHS.

Strategies. There are several different strategies that the participants used during their first semester to help them with their transition. All the participants felt that time management was a skill they learned while attending the ECHS that significantly impacted their first semester. Jake explained, "Time management is more important here at the four-year university because we are held fully responsible. There is no one reminding us to do our assignments or holding our hands." A few of the participants, including Sarah, Crystal, and Kylie, have jobs, so managing

their time is crucial for them to work and keep up with their studies. Study skills are another strategy the participants expressed to be important during their first semester. Many participants used different study skills, but Crystal explained that she used index cards, rewrote notes, and studied with peers. Casey developed support groups among his peers, which helped him study more. Many participants mentioned being able to better communicate with instructors, schedule tutoring sessions, and schedule meetings with instructions several times. According to Tia:

I was better prepared for the transition to the four-year university than my peers because I knew how to take notes, ask questions, and communicate with my instructors, which the freshmen in my seminar class did not know how to do.

## **Sub-Question Three**

The third sub-question asked: Considering situation, support, self, and strategies according to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, how do ECHS graduates experience the time after their first semester, called the moving out process? This question looks at the participants' experiences during the moving out stage of a transition, specifically through the lens of Schlossberg's four S's (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

**Situation.** All the participants felt a sense of relief, excitement, and accomplishment when they finished the first semester. Even though the first semester was difficult for some of the students, Amy stated, "I was proud of myself for not giving up because it was difficult." Some participants felt that completing the first semester boosted their confidence, including Madison, who stated, "I was happy because it made me realize I could do it." Some participants felt that the four-year university was a little difficult but not too much. Casey stated, "I was glad the first semester was over, but it wasn't too bad and not nearly as difficult as I thought it would be."

Support. As previously discussed with the other research questions, the primary support for all the students included their family and peers, even after they finished their first semester. All the participants discussed the support of their families, whether it was emotional or financial. The mentors students had during their first semester were also there to assist them. Some participants discussed the lack of friends but explained the importance of getting out of their dorm to make new friends. Kylie stated:

Everyone needs to go and meet new people. If you need help, ask the people around you. You need to talk to people and get used to talking to people you don't know. The whole time you are trying to make friendships, it might be awkward for everyone. Just keep doing it.

Self. Each participant felt they had come a long way from when they graduated from the ECHS. Many participants, including Andrea, Amy, Morgan, Crystal, and Kylie, described themselves as more mature and confident. Several participants, including Alison, Madison, and Casey know what they want to do as a career and what they want to do with their lives after they finish college and graduate with their bachelor's degrees. Some participants have jobs while attending school, which has caused them to feel more like adults. Kyle stated, "I'm a grown-up now. I go to work and go to school and pay my own bills. I feel more mature."

Strategies. All of the participants expressed that they would continue using the same strategies they learned in the ECHS and utilized during their first semester as they continued with their education. The various strategies included time management, study skills, and communication skills. As expressed previously, these different skills helped all the participants manage the workload and help them be successful during their first semester. There are a few things that the participants will do differently as they continue their education. Many participants

expressed the importance of getting out of their dorm rooms to meet new people. Morgan stated, "I would have gotten out more and made more friends. I didn't get out of my dorm much, and I regret that." Another thing some of the participants will do differently as they continue their education is not to let social activities get in the way of their studying. Madison stated, "I would limit my social activities. Once I found my peers, I wanted to hang with them more. I don't need to let friends get in the way of my studying." Some participants felt that they needed to make sure they communicated with their instructors more as they continued their education.

# **Summary**

This chapter covers the data that was collected during the student questionnaire, the semi-structured interview, the letter-writing activity, and the focus group interviews with 11 participants. Each participant was described in detail, and subsequently, there were four primary themes, with eleven sub-themes discussed. The four primary themes include 1) Self-Awareness; 2) Academic Preparation; 3) College Awareness; 4) Relationships with each of these primary themes, including several sub-themes. The themes and sub-themes were then used to answer the sub-questions for this study that used Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory to address the central research question.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION**

#### Overview

The purpose of this transcendental phenomenological study was to understand the experiences of graduates of an early college high school (ECHS) in the South on their transition to a four-year university. Most school districts have implemented college preparatory programs in their high schools to help prepare students for their transition (Jett & Rinn, 2020) and help align secondary and postsecondary systems (Nodine et al., 2019). These different college preparatory programs help students see that college is achievable (Woods et al., 2018), provide exposure to the college academic environment and rigor (Adams et al., 2020; Taie & Lewis, 2020), and give a deeper understanding of what it means to be a college student (Lile et al., 2018), and increase positive results with college enrollment, persistence, and graduation (D'Anna et al., 2019; Morgan et al., 2018). There have been many studies looking at the quantitative data related to ECHS and a student's transition but minimal studies regarding the experiences of graduates of an ECHS on their transition to a four-year university (Hutchins et al., 2019).

#### **Discussion**

The theory guiding this study was Schlossberg's transition theory (1981). Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory examines how an individual copes with a change and transitions to a new environment. According to Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, four components need to be considered when looking at a transition: a person's situation, support, self, and strategies (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The first factor, "situation," deals with several different aspects of the transition in order to help a person better understand what they will experience during the transition. The second factor, "support," deals with whether a person has a robust support system

to help them physically and mentally with the transition. The third factor, "self," deals with the personal characteristics of the individual going through the transition and how they view it.

Schlossberg (1981) believed a person needs to be self-aware of their beliefs, abilities, perceptions, and attitudes so that they can have a smooth transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). The fourth factor, "strategies," deals with the coping mechanism a person brings into the transition.

The transition to college from high school tends to be difficult for students because of many differences between high schools and colleges (Adams et al., 2020; Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020; Nodine et al., 2019; Troutman, Hendrix-Soto, et al., 2018; Walk, 2020). Students who feel they can turn to their faculty, peers, or parents for support tend to handle the transition better (Calhoun et al., 2018). Studies have shown that many high school students struggle with the expectations of being college students and the differences in schedule and rigor of courses (Adams et al., 2020; Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020; Lile et al., 2018; Mollet et al., 2020). The students are also used to having the support of their parents with them in every decision, but once they transition to college, they face the realities of autonomy and independence (Witkowsky & Clayton, 2020). Students also struggle with time management, and many have academic deficiencies because of their academically poor high school curriculum (McGhee, 2020).

This research study contributed to the existing literature by gaining insight into the lived experiences of ECHS graduates who have transitioned to a four-year university. Participants from the current study described their experiences that align with Schlossberg's transition theory (1981) and the four S factors. Through their experiences, participants explained their transition

from an ECHS to a four-year university through student identity, preparation, and support systems.

# **Interpretation of Findings**

The findings of this study were detailed in chapter four of this manuscript, but the following sections will describe a brief summary of the Thematic Findings. Following the summary will be a series of significant interpretations from the findings.

# Summary of Thematic Findings

There were four primary themes, with eleven sub-themes found during data analysis. The four primary themes include 1) Self-Awareness; 2) Academic Preparation; 3) College Awareness; 4) Relationships with each of these primary themes, including several sub-themes. These different themes and sub-themes were developed based on the current research study, which provided insight into the lived experiences of graduates of an ECHS and their transition to a four-year university. Each student identified in different ways when it comes to graduating with their associate degree, starting their first semester at the four-year university, and finishing their first semester at the four-year university. There were different skills that the participants discussed throughout the data collection that helped them be academically prepared for their transition, including time management, study skills, and communication skills. While at the ECHS, all the participants expressed that they were taught about the college environment, rigor, involvement, and expectations which helped make their transition to the four-year university easier.

**Identity.** Schlossberg (1981) believed a person needs to be self-aware of their beliefs, abilities, perceptions, and attitudes so that they can have a smooth transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995). During the three stages of the students' transition, they all learned about their identity as a

student and as a person. All participants felt a sense of accomplishment, had a shift in their mindset, and thought that they had grown since graduating from the ECHS. The sense of accomplishment was an attitude the students felt once they completed the ECHS and the first semester at their four-year university. Several students had to shift their mindset and remind themselves that they could be successful in college due to past experiences at the ECHS, which helped them believe in themselves. All the participants felt they had grown in maturity after they finished the first semester compared to when they graduated from the ECHS, which shows that they were self-aware of their beliefs, abilities, perceptions, and attitudes.

Preparation. Research shows that attending an ECHS helps participants realize that college is achievable (Woods et al., 2018), exposes students to the college academic environment and rigor (Adams et al., 2020; Taie & Lewis, 2020), and helps students obtain a deeper understanding of what it means to be a college student (Lil et al., 2018). The current study helped support this research based on the participants' experiences with attending an ECHS and transitioning to a four-year university. Being exposed to the college environment, expectations, and rigor helped all the participants see that they could be successful and gave them confidence that their peers their age did not have. All the students felt academically prepared to transition to a four-year university, and many even thought that the workload and academic rigor were no different than what they experienced at the ECHS.

Not only were the students academically prepared for the transition, but all the students felt prepared to handle the college campus and environment. Attending the ECHS helped the students get accustomed to a college campus, including the different resources, online platforms, and the norms expected of a college student, including behavior. Due to this experience, the students could navigate the four-year university to which they transitioned. Some participants

even explained how they were able to help other incoming first-year students with the transition because they were comfortable with the college environment and had previous experience. The confidence and knowledge the students experienced from attending the ECHS support previous research on the benefits of attending an ECHS (Adams et al., 2020; Lil et al., 2018; Taie & Lewis, 2020; Woods et al., 2018).

College Readiness. Researchers have examined what students feel that they need to be college-ready. Conley (2010) defines college readiness as "the level of preparation a student needs in order to enroll and succeed in a credit-bearing course at a postsecondary institution" (p. 21). Many students think that they need specific transition skills, including time management, note-taking, and writing, while others believe they need to know the logistics of college life, such as how to select courses, how to communicate properly with professors, and how to navigate the college environment (Francis et al., 2018). A few sub-themes in this study indicated that time management, study skills, and communication skills were essential skills that helped the students be successful in their first semester at their four-year university. Even though time management was discussed as a necessary skill, at least one participant found it even more important at the four-year university because students were held fully responsible for their work. Some of the participants had jobs while attending school, and the time management skills they developed while attending the ECHS helped them keep up with their assignments. Some of the strategies the students used to manage their time included planners, calendars, to-do lists, block scheduling, and listing all assignments.

Before attending the ECHS, all the students explained that they rarely had to study, but while in the ECHS, they had to study, which developed the study skills they used at the four-year university. Several of the strategies used to help the students study include index cards, rewriting

notes, and studying with peers. Many students also explained the importance of being able to communicate with their instructors, schedule tutoring sessions, and schedule meetings. Even though all the students knew the importance of communicating with their instructors, a few found it difficult due to the size of their classes. These specific students also realized that if they were going to make it, they would need to start communicating with their instructors.

Involvement. For students to have a greater sense of belonging, they need to get involved in campus activities with other students and organizations (Calhoun et al., 2018; Mu & Cole, 2019). Some of the students in this study were involved in extracurriculars at their four-year university and, due to this, were able to meet other students and develop relationships. Other students in this study were slow to get involved on campus, resulting in them struggling to be away from home and their families. Many of the participants discussed the importance of making sure that you get out of your dorm and go to meet others. Many even expressed regrets because they did not take full advantage of meeting other students because they did not leave their dorms and attend activities hosted by their four-year university.

Support System. Having a strong support system is very important for students during their transition to a four-year university. Research shows that students have a greater sense of belonging when they have more peer-group interactions and support, faculty interactions and support (Calhoun et al., 2018), and parental support (Cahyadi & Rohinsa, 2020; Dahal et al., 2018; Rahinsa et al., 2020). All the students expressed the importance of having parental support while they attended the ECHS and during their transition. Their parents and family were crucial to them being encouraged and confident that they could succeed. Having a support system besides your family was also discussed by many participants. Several students noted that having older peers to provide advice helped because they had already been through what the students

were currently going through. A few of the students' four-year universities provided them with mentors within their programs of study. The mentors checked in on the students and helped them during their transition. Advisors were another beneficial support system for some of the participants. The advisors would provide the students with information regarding their degrees and resources on the college campus.

# **Implications for Practice**

The findings of this transcendental phenomenological study have practical implications for the Southern Collegiate High School on the Southern Community College campus, other ECHS, ECHS students, and families dealing with students transitioning to a four-year university. This section will discuss the various implications and provide specific recommendations for the stakeholders previously listed involved in the transition of ECHS graduates to a four-year university.

### Implications for Practice

The findings of the current research study prove several implications for the Southern Collegiate High School on the Southern Community College campus, other ECHS, ECHS students, and families dealing with students transitioning to a four-year university. This research study revealed implications for the Southern Collegiate High School on the Southern Community College campus and other ECHS. Academic preparation is essential for students to be successful during their transition. It is crucial that students are provided with the rigor needed to prepare them for the courses at a four-year university. Students also need to be accustomed to the college environment and expectations. By helping students gain confidence in the college setting, they may also be prepared to take on the college setting at a four-year university. Students attending an ECHS are provided with the opportunity to get accustomed to the college environment and

expectations. We have seen with the current research data that it helps them transition to a fouryear university.

Academic preparation also includes specific skills that can be learned through an ECHS. The skills include time management, study skills, and communication skills. The students who attended the ECHS from this research developed the skills previously listed and saw that they helped them succeed during their first semester. These skills were developed throughout the participants' time in the ECHS, and then the same strategies were used when they transitioned. There will be times when students will need to work while in college, like some of the participants in this study, and having the skills they learned during their time at the ECHS, such as time management and study skills, they were able to manage their school work and keep their jobs. Students also stressed the importance of communicating with their instructors when they need help or have questions. The communication skills they learned while attending the ECHS gave them the confidence to communicate with their instructors at the four-year university, while their peers their age were not prepared to communicate with their instructors.

The research also has some implications for ECHS students to consider when they transfer to a four-year university. As seen in this research, it is essential for graduates of an ECHS to use the previously discussed skills, including study skills, time management, and communication skills. Students also need to make sure they are taking time to develop their support system at the four-year university by getting involved on campus and making friends. A strong peer support system benefited the students in the current study. One of the issues discussed several times is the importance of students leaving their dorms and getting involved on campus. Involvement on campus may help the students handle being away from home and help

them develop a community on their new campus. Even though making friends is essential, students need to remember not to let their social life get in the way of their studies.

Finally, this research has some implications for the student's families. Throughout the research, family support was discussed and explained as an essential part of students' success. Students need to know that they have their families to turn to in times of need. Family support in the form of encouragement helped the students in this research push through the different components of transitioning to a four-year university. Some family support will also come in the form of financial support, but the majority of the family support seen in this research dealt with the families checking in on their students often. The stronger a person's social support is, the better they can handle the transitions they face (Cahyadi & Rohinsa, 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Dahal et al., 2018; Rahinsa et al., 2020).

# **Theoretical and Empirical Implications**

The current study's information on ECHS graduates and their transition to a four-year university corroborated Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory, specifically looking at the four S factors. Participants provided experiential recollections of their transition to a four-year university in reference to their situation, support, self, and strategies which showed how these different components impacted how the students coped and adjusted to their new environment at the four-year university. The research questions for this study focused on evaluating the four S's of Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory at the different stages of the transition. The three stages of a transition that were looked at include the moving in stage, the moving out stage, and the moving through stage.

During this study, themes were developed that looked at the three stages of a transition in relation to the four S factors. Many of the themes determined were the same in each transition

stage, including academic preparation, college awareness, and relationships. The one theme that progressed as the stages changed was the self-awareness theme. As the students went through the different stages of a transition, their identities changed as well. Schlossberg (1981) believed that a person needed to become self-aware of their beliefs, abilities, perceptions, and attitudes to have a smooth transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995), which is what the students were able to do. Ultimately this helped them be able to continue moving forward with their education.

The empirical implications of this study align with previous studies, which specified how college preparatory programs like an ECHS help students transition to a four-year university. Research showed that students who attend an ECHS are better prepared for college than students who attend a traditional high school (Edmunds et al., 2020) because the students learn how to behave like college students and develop the college skills necessary to be successful (Song et al., 2021). This current study supports this research based on the experiences of the participants who graduated from the Southern Collegiate High School on the Southern Community College campus. The participants felt that they were better prepared for the four-year university because of attending the ECHS compared to other students their age. They also described how the college skills such as study skills, organization skills, and communication skills they learned while in the ECHS helped them be successful during their first semester at the four-year university, which supports the research that found that students who participated in college preparatory programs were introduced to specific skills like time management, study skills, and communication skills that helped prepare them for the culture of college (Adams et al., 2020; Calhoun et al., 2018; Troutman et al., 2018). According to Woods, Park & Betrand (2019), students who are given an authentic college experience while in dual enrollment courses leave high school with a better understanding of how college works. This current study supports this research because the

participants attended an ECHS that gave them an authentic college experience, and the participants felt that they had a better understanding of how college works at a four-year university. The participants expressed that they were better prepared to handle the online platforms their four-year university utilized because of attending an ECHS. They were also used to the college schedule because while they attended the ECHS, they were full-time college students and followed the Southern Community College course schedule.

#### **Limitations and Delimitations**

Limitations are obstacles that occur that are out of the researcher's control. One limitation of this study was that the interviews were conducted virtually due to the students attending four-year universities at different locations and being in school at the time of the interviews. Since the interviews were conducted virtually, there could have been limits to the discussion that would not have happened if the interviews had been done face-to-face. Another limitation of this study was the refusal to participate and the lack of response from other students who graduated from the ECHS. Due to their refusal or lack of response, there were fewer participants. Additionally, out of the 11 participants, three did not participate in all the data collection forms. One person did not complete the focus group, and two others did not complete the letter-writing activity. Due to this, some viewpoints and experiences may have been left out that could have impacted the study. A final limitation is the actual participant pool. Due to there being a smaller number of graduates from the Southern Collegiate High School, there was not a large pool of participants to invite to participate in the research.

Delimitations are boundaries set to purposefully limit the scope of the study.

Delimitations in this study included site selection and participant selection. Since this was a transcendental phenomenology aimed at understanding the transition of graduates from an ECHS

in the South, the participants were required to have attended the Southern Collegiate High School on the Southern Community College campus. They could not have attended any other ECHS. The participants also had to graduate with their associate degree and transfer to a four-year university. The participants could not have graduated from the Southern Collegiate High School, transferred to a trade school, or continued at the Southern Community College campus towards a trade certificate.

#### **Recommendations for Future Research**

As a result of the findings, limitations, and delimitations, this section details recommendations for future research. First, due to the fact that this study was done on an ECHS in the South, future research should consider studies on the transitions of graduates from other ECHS in other parts of the United States. Second, since this study looked at students from different backgrounds, future research should consider a specific group of students, such as a particular race or a specific socio-economic background, and their experiences transitioning to a four-year university after graduating from an ECHS. Next, since this study only looked at students who graduated from an ECHS and transferred to a four-year university, future research could look at students who went into the workforce or transferred to a trade school. Finally, since this study only looked at the student's first semester at a four-year university, future research could look at the students' transition after completing an entire year or any time after their first year up until they graduate from the four-year university.

#### Conclusion

The purpose of this phenomenological study is to understand the experiences of graduates of an ECHS in the South on their transition to a four-year university. The transition to college from high school tends to be difficult for students because of many differences between high

schools and colleges (Adams et al., 2020; Duncheon, 2020; Duncheon & Relles, 2020; Nodine et al., 2019; Troutman, Hendrix-Soto, et al., 2018; Walk, 2020). Schlossberg's (1981) transition theory looks at how a person copes and adjusts to a new environment. Schlossberg (1981) believed that an individual could navigate transitions better if they went through a process called taking stock. Taking stock consists of four different components, considered the four Ss – situation, support, self, and strategies – that will help students cope with their transition (Schlossberg et al., 1995).

There were four primary themes, with eleven sub-themes found during data analysis. The four primary themes include 1) Self-Awareness; 2) Academic Preparation; 3) College Awareness; 4) Relationships with each of these primary themes, including several sub-themes. These different themes will help educational stakeholders, especially those involved with an ECHS, understand the transitions of students that have graduated from an ECHS and transitioned to a four-year university. Future ECHS graduates and current ECHS schools can utilize the results of this study by ensuring that study skills, organization skills, and communication skills are emphasized during a student's time at the ECHS in an effort to prepare students for the expectations of a four-year university. More specifically, ECHS' can ensure that they provide their students with a college experience that includes the college environment, expectations, and rigor so that the students are prepared for the college experience on a four-year university campus. Additionally, helping ECHS students understand the importance of developing a support system at their transitioning school is important. Developing support systems and making connections with others will help minimize the challenges that the participants in this study detailed. Overall, the results of this study provide insight into the experiences of ECHS graduates and their transition to a four-year university.

#### References

- Adams, T. R., Williams, B. K., & Lewis, C. W. (2020). "That's the point of going": A qualitative inquiry into the experiences of black males at an early college high school. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 31(1), 14-34. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X19860210
- Ambar, C., Ozumba, M., & Christ, C. T. (2020). *Junctures in women's leadership: Higher education*. Rutgers University Press.
- Anderson, M. L., Goodman, J., & Schlossberg, N. K. (2012). Counseling adults in transition: Linking schlossberg's theory with practice in a diverse world (Fourth;4th; ed.). Springer Pub.
- Atchison, D., Zieser, K. L., Mohammed, S., Levin, J., & Knight, D. (2019). *The costs and benefits of early college high schools*. American Institutes for Research.

  https://www.air.org/system/files/downloads/report/Costs-Benefits-Early-College-High Schools-508-reportDec-2019.pdf
- Banning, J. (1989). Impact of college environments on freshman students. In M. Upcraft, J. Gardner, & Associates (Eds.), The freshman year experience (pp. 53-62). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Barnett, E. A. (2018). High school-to-college transition courses: A typology of design choices.

  New York, NY: Columbia University, Teachers College, Community College Research

  Center. Retrieved from: https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/media/k2/attachments/high-school
  college-transition-typology.pdf
- Beard, J. J., Hsu, J., Ewing, M., & Godfrey, K. E. (2019). Studying the relationships between the number of APs, AP performance, and college outcomes. *Educational Measurement, Issues and Practice*, 38(4), 42-54. https://doi.org/10.1111/emip.12295

- Bevis, T. B. (2019). A world history of higher education exchange: The legacy of American scholarship. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bird, G. (2018). The impact of parents' education levels. First-generation college students are less likely to persist and graduate than are children of college-educated parents, a national study finds. Inside Higher Ed.

  https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2018/02/08/students-postsecondary-education arcs-affected-parents-college-backgrounds-study
- Botstein, L. (1997). *Jefferson's children: Education and the promise of American culture* (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). Doubleday.
- Britton, T. A., Symns, M. O., & Paul, V. (2020). Early birds: An exploration of early college initiative high schools in new york city and college persistence. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*,

  152102512092478. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025120924782
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2018). College enrollment and work activity of 2015 high school graduates. Retrieved August 5, 2018 from http://www.bls.gov/news.release/hsgec.nr0.htm
- Burns, K., Ellegood, W. A., Bernard Bracy, J. M., Duncan, M., & Sweeny, D. C. (2019). Early college credit programs positively impact student success. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 30(1), 27-49. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X18801274
- Cahyadi, S., & Rohinsa, M. (2020). The influence of teacher support on student engagement:

  Basic need satisfaction and academic buoyancy as mediators. *Journal of Critical Reviews*, 7(16), 3258-3266.

- Calhoun, Y., Rangel, V. S., & Coulson, H. L. (2018). Educational resilience at risk? The challenges of attending an early college high school. *The Urban Review*, *51*, 301-325. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-018-0481-x
- Carnevale, A. P., Strohl, J., Ridley, N., & Gulish, A. (2018). Three educational pathways to good jobs: High school, middle skill, and bachelor's degree. Washington D.C.: Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce. Retrieved November 17, 2018 from https://cew.georgetown.edu/cew-reports/3pathways/
- Chickering, A. W. (1969). Education and identity. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chickering, A. W. & Reisser, L. (1993). Education and identity (2nd Ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Clayton, G. (2021). Advanced placement and concurrent enrollment substitution effects. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 32(3), 380-396. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X211004901
  Clearly University. (2020). History of higher education in the U.S. Retrieved from https://www.cleary.edu/international/history-of-he/
- Conley, D. T. (2010). College and career ready: Helping all students succeed beyond high school. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Conley, D. T. (2014). New conceptions of college and career ready: A profile approach to admission. *The Journal of College Admissions*, (223), 12.
- Creswell, J. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research, 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Pearson.

- Dahal, J., Prasad, P. W. C., Maag, A., Alsadoon, A., & Hoe, L. S. (2018). The effect of culture and belief systems on students' academic buoyancy. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23(4), 1465-1482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-017-9672-04
- D'Anna, S., Denmark, B., Rosenthal, M., & Maillet, J. O. (2019). High school students' college outcomes in a dual enrollment program, 1998–2015. *Journal of Allied Health*, 48(4), 263 269.
- DeRuy, E. (2016, December 7). Where students get two years of college in high school for free. *The Atlantic*. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2016/12/early-college-isnt
  a- new-idea/509759/
- Dorimé-Williams, M. L., Williams, M. S., Carr, A., Choi, S., Fritz, N., Joseph, T., Pomilee, B., & Udoh, E. (2022). Assessing a summer bridge program: Centering student voice and student learning. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice, ahead-of-print*(ahead of-print), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/19496591.2022.2032114
- Duncheon, J. C. (2018). Making sense of college readiness in a low-performing urban high school: Perspectives of high-achieving first generation youth. *Urban Education*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085918756712
- Duncheon, J. C., & DeMatthews, D. E. (2018). Early college high school principals: Preparing historically underrepresented students for college success. *NASSP Bulletin*, 102(4), 269 290. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636518812703
- Duncheon, J. C. (2020). "We Are Exposed to That College Environment": Exploring the Socialization of Early College High School Students. Community College Review, 48(2), 173–194. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552119898880

- Duncheon, J. C., & Relles, S. R. (2020). "we're caught in between two systems": Exploring the complexity of dual credit implementation. *Review of Higher Education*, 43(4), 989 1016. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2020.0028
- Edmunds, J. A., Unlu, F., Furey, J., Glennie, E., & Arshavsky, N. (2020). What Happens When You Combine High School and College? The Impact of the Early College Model on Postsecondary Performance and Completion. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 42(2), 257–278. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373720912249
- Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity: Youth and crisis (2nd Ed.). New York: Norton.
- Evans, N. J., Forney, D. S., Guido, F. M., Patton, L. D. & Renn, K. A. (2010). Student development in college: Theory, research and practice (2nd Ed.). San Francisco, CA. Jossey-Bass.
- Field, K. (2021). The rise of dual credit: More and more students take college classes while still in high school. that is boosting degree attainment but also raising doubts about rigor. *Education Next*, 21(1), 57.
- Fitzpatrick, D. (2019). Challenges mitigating a Darwinian application of social capital: how specific advising activities by high school counselors shift measures of college readiness but not college-going. *Research in Higher Education*, 61(5), 652-678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-019-09575-7
- Francis, G. L., Duke, J., Brigham, F. J., & Demetro, K. (2018). Student perceptions of college readiness, college services and supports, and family involvement in college: An exploratory study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(10), 3573 3585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3622-x

- Ganga, E., Mazzariello, A., & Edgecombe, N. (2018). Development education: An introduction for policymakers. Denver, CO: Education Commission of the States, Center for the Analysis of Postsecondary Readiness. Retrieved from https://ccrc.tc.columbia.educ/media/k2/attachments/developmental-education introduction-policymakers.pdf
- Geiger, R. L., Anderson, C. K., & Sorber, N. M. (2018). American higher education in the postwar era, 1945-1970 (First;1; ed.). Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315104317
- Geiger, R. L. (2019). American higher education since world war II: A history. Princeton University Press.
- Gilson, C. M., & Matthews, M. S. (2019). Case study of a new engineering early college high school: Advancing educational opportunities for underrepresented students in an urban area. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 30(3), 235

  267. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X19840024
- GoCollege (2019). Top 11 reasons why students drop out of college. Retrieved from http://blog.gocollege.com/2007/11/23/reasons-why-college-dropouts-exist/
- Goodman, J., Schlossberg, N. K., & Anderson, M. L. (2006). *Counseling adults in transition:*Linking practice with theory (3rd ed.). Springer Pub. Co.
- Grace-Odeleye, B., & Santiago, J. (2019). A review of some diverse models of summer bridge programs for first-generation and at-risk college students. *Administrative Issues Journal:*Connecting Education, Practice, and Research, 9(1), 35-47.

  https://dc.swosu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1295&context=aij

- Hooker, S. (2019). Addressing a major barrier to dual enrollment: Strategies to staff up and scale up. Jobs for the Future. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED598308.pdf
- Howard, B. L. & Sharpe, S. (2019). The summer bridge program: An Effective agent in college students' retention. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Education*, 7(2), 20-30. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1267019
- Hutcheson, P. A. (2019). A people's history of american higher education. Routledge.
- Hutchins, B. C., Arshavsky, N., & Edmunds, J. A. (2019). Why some early college high school students do not transition to a 4-year college: An exploration of perceived barriers and schooling experiences on students' transition plans. *Psychology in the Schools, 56*(7), 1117-1138. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22257
- Jett, N., & Rinn, A. N. (2019). Radically early college entrants on radically early college entrance: A heuristic inquiry. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 42(4), 303 335. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353219874430
- Jett, N., & Rinn, A. N. (2020). Student experiences and outcomes of early college: A systematic review. *Roeper Review*, 42(2), 80-94. https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2020.1728801
- Judson, E., Bowers, N. L., & Glassmeyer, K. (2019). Recruiting and encouraging students to complete advanced placement science and math courses and exams: Policies and practices. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 42(3), 243 265. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353219855679
- Kim, C., & Tamborini, C. R. (2019). Are they still worth it? the long-run earnings benefits of an associate degree, vocational diploma or certificate, and some college. *RSF: Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, *5*(3), 64

  85. https://doi.org/10.7758/RSF.2019.5.3.04

- Koch, J. V. (2019). *The impoverishment of the american college student*. Brookings Institution Press. https://doi.org/10.7864/j.ctt1vjqp30
- Kolluri, S., & Tierney, W. G. (2020). Understanding college readiness: The limitations of information and the possibilities of cultural integrity. *The Educational Forum (West Lafayette, Ind.)*, 84(1), 80-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2020.1672003
- Lane, T. B., Morgan, K., & Lopez, M. M. (2020). A bridge between high school and college: A case study of a STEM intervention program enhancing college readiness among underserved students. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 22(1), 155-179. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025117729824
- Lessard, L. M., & Juvonen, J. (2022). Developmental changes in the frequency and functions of school-related communication with friends and family across high school: Effects on college enrollment. *Developmental Psychology*, https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001003
- Levy, D. B. (2019). For the common good: A new history of higher education in america by charles dorn (review). *Review of Higher Education*, 42(4), E-6-E

  9. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2019.0086
- Lile, J. R., Ottusch, T. M., Jones, T., & Richards, L. N. (2018). Understanding college-student roles: Perspectives of participants in a high School/Community college dual-enrollment program. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42(2), 95 111. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2016.1264899
- Lincoln, Y. & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalitatic inquirey. Sage.
- McCaffery, P. (2019). The higher education manager's handbook: Effective leadership and management in universities and colleges (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.

- McGhee, K. (2020). Enhancing community college operations to promote student success. *College and University*, 95(3), 27-30. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1267333
- Mokher, C. G., Leeds, D. M., & Harris, J. C. (2018). Adding it up: How the Florida College and career readiness initiative impacted developmental education. *Educational Evaluation* and *Policy Analysis*, 40(2), 219-242. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717744891
- Mollet, A. L., Stier, M. J., Linley, J. L., & Locke, L. A. (2020). "I didn't become a professor to teach high school": Examining college educators' perceptions of culture in early college high schools. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 53(1-2), 229 243. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2020.1755387
- Morgan, T., Zakem, D., & Cooper, W. (2018). From high school access to postsecondary success: An exploratory study of the impact of high-rigor coursework. *Education Sciences*, 8(4), 191. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci8040191
- Moreno, M., McKinney, L., Burridge, A., Rangel, V. S., & Carales, V. D. (2019). Access for whom? The impact of enrollment on college matriculation among underserved student populations in Texas. *Community College Journal Research and Practice*, 45(4), 255 272. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2019.1688734
- Moreno, M., McKinney, L., Rangel, V. S., Burridge, A., & Carales, V. D. (2022). The impact of academic momentum on postsecondary matriculation among early college high school students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice, ahead-of-print*(ahead-of print), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2022.2035852
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Mu, L., & Cole, J. (2019). Behavior-based student typology: A view from student transition from high school to college. *Research in Higher Education*, 60(8), 1171 1194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-019-09547-x
- Nash, M. A. (2018). Women's higher education in the united states: New historical perspectives. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Nicoletti, M. C. (2019). Revising the Tinto's theoretical dropout model. *Higher Education Studies*, 9(3), 52-64. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v9n3p52
- Nodine, T., Jaeger, L., & Bracco, K. R. (2019). Bridging the gaps for students in Long Beach:

  Cross-systems efforts to institutionalize dual enrollment [Research brief]. Education
  Insights Center at California State University, Sacramento.

  https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED597810.pdf
- Odeleye, B., & Santiago, J. (2019). A review of some diverse models of summer-bridge programs for first-generation and at-risk college students. *Administrative Issues Journal:*Education, Practice, and Research, 9(1) https://doi.org/10.5929/9.1.2
- Ohlson, M. A., Shope, S. C., & Johnson, J. D. (2019). The rural RISE (Rural Initiatives Supporting Excellence): University-Rural K-12 collaboration programs for college and career readiness for rural students. *The Rural Educator, Journal of the National Rural Education Association*, 41(1), 27-39. https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v41i1.551
- Organization, I. B. (2022a). *The IB Diploma program final statistical bulletin, May 2019*examination session. https://ibo.org/globalassets/programme-information/dp/diploma
  programme-final-statistical-bulletin-may-2021-assessment-session.pdf
- Organization, I. B. (2022b). Why the IB is Different. https://www.ibo.org/benefits/why-the-ib-is different/

- Pathak, V., Jena, B., & Kalra, S. (2013). Qualitative research. *Perspectives in clinical research*, 4(3), 192. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.115389
- Radunzel, J. (2018). Examining retention and transfer in relation to incoming student data for first- generation and continuing-generation students: What differences exist? *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025118813516
- Rohinsa, M., Cahyadi, S., Djunaidi, A., & Iskandar, T. Z. (2020). Effect of parental support on engagement through need satisfaction and academic buoyancy. *Utopica y Praxis Latinoamericana*, 25(6), 144-153. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3987593
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45(2), 209-213.
- Schaefer, M. B., & Rivera, L. M. (2020). Educational experiences that matter to seniors graduating from an urban early college high school. *Urban Education (Beverly Hills, Calif.)*, 55(3), 448-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916654526
- Schlossberg, N. K. (1981). A model for analyzing human adaptation to transition. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 9(2), 2-18. https://doi.org/10.1177/001100008100900202
- Schlossberg, N., Waters, E., & Goodman, J. (1995). *Counseling adults in transition: Linking practice with theory* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Springer Publishing Company.
- Song, M., Zeiser, K., Atchison, D., & Brodziak de los Reyes, Iliana. (2021). Early college, continued success: Longer-term impact of early college high schools. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 14(1), 116
  142. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2020.1862374

- Taie, S., & Lewis, L. (2020). Dual or concurrent enrollment in public schools in the United States (NCES 2020-125). *Data Point*. https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2020125
- Taylor, J. L., & Yan, R. (2018). Exploring the outcomes of standards-based concurrent enrollment and advanced placement in arkansas. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 26, 123. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.26.3647
- Tinto, V. (1975) "Dropout from Higher Education: A Theoretical Synthesis of Recent Research" *Review of Educational Research* vol.45, pp.89-125.
- Tinto, V. (1988). Stages of student departure. The Journal of Higher Education, 59(4), 438-455.
- Troutman, D. R., Hendrix-Soto, A., Creusere, M., & Mayer, E. (2018). Dual credit and success in college. *The University of Texas System*, 1-159.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). National Center for Education Statistics [NCES]. Web tables: Profile of undergraduate students 2007–2008. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2010/2010205.pdf
- Vargas, J., Hooker, S., Collins, M., & Gutierrez, A. (2019). Chapter 10: Eliminating the gap between high school and college: What the next generation of transition programs must do. Jobs for the Future.
- Venegas-Muggli, J. (2019). Impact of a pre-college outreach program on the academic achievements of higher education students: A case study of Chile. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 38(6), 1313-1327.
- Walk, M. (2020). Ahead of schedule: A history of early college high schools. *NASSP Bulletin*, *104*(2), 125-140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636520927090

- Warren, J. M., & Goins, C. L. (2019). Exploring the relationships between high school course enrollment, achievement, and first-semester college GPA. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice (Minneapolis, Minn.)*, 9(1)https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2019.09.1.27
- Witkowsky, P., & Clayton, G. (2020). What makes dual enrollment work? high school counselor perspectives. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 44(6), 427 444. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2019.1610676
- Woods, C. S., Park, T., Hu, S., & Betrand Jones, T. (2018). How high school coursework predicts introductory college-level course success. *Community College Review*, 46(2), 176-196. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552118759419
- Zeiser, K., Knight, D., Atchinson, D., Mohammad, S., & Levin, J. (2019). *The Costs and Benefits of Early College High Schools*. American Institutes for Research. https://www.air.org/resource/costs-and-benefits-early-college-high-schools-0
- Zeiser, K. L., Song, M., & Atchison, D. (2020;2021;). The impact of early colleges on students' postsecondary education trajectories: Can early colleges overcome the (supposedly) diversionary role of community colleges? *Research in Higher Education*, 62(5), 600 622. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-020-09616-6

# Appendix A

# IRB Approval

# LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

January 4, 2023

Mikki Curtis Patricia Ferrin

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY22-23-575 A Phenomenological Study on the Experiences of Graduates from an Early College High School in the South on their Transition to a four-year University

Dear Mikki Curtis, Patricia Ferrin,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available

without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at a second control of the control

Sincerely,

G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP

Administrative Chair of Institutional Research

Research Ethics Office

# Appendix B

# **Site Permission**



July 29, 2022

Mikki Curtis Liberty University Doctoral Student

#### Dear Mikki:

After carefully reviewing your research proposal entitled A Phenomenological Study on the Experiences of Graduates from an Early College High School in the South on their Transition to a Four-Year University, I have decided to grant you permission to conduct your study at the campus.

Check the following box to grant permission:

I grant permission for Mikki Curtis to conduct her research on the campus.

Sincerely,



# **Appendix C**

#### Consent

**Title of the Project:** A Phenomenological Study on the Experiences of Graduates from an Early College High School in the South on their Transition to a Four-Year University **Principal Investigator:** Mikki Curtis, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty University

#### Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must have graduated from the Southern Collegiate High School with 60 college credit hours and transferred to a four-year university. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

# What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to understand the perceptions of graduates of an early college high school in the south on their transition to a four-year university.

#### What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Participate in a questionnaire. The questionnaire will be completed by the participants before the structured interview to gather demographic and descriptive data. The questionnaire should take 15 minutes to complete.
- 2. Participate in an individual semi-structured interview. The interviews will last 30-45 minutes and will be audio recorded and transcribed. The interviews can be either inperson or virtual.
- 3. Participate in a letter-writing activity. Participants will be given a prompt at the end of their semi-structured interview. They will have the opportunity to write the letter before they leave the interview or they will have two weeks to write their letter and email it back to the researcher. These letters will be shared, so be sure no identifying information (e.g., names, emails, etc.) is provided. The letter-writing activity should take 30 minutes to complete.
- 4. Participate in a focus group. The focus group will consist of five participants randomly chosen. It will occur face-to-face but can be done through zoom due to COVID. The focus groups will last an hour and will be audio- and/or video-recorded and transcribed.
- Participate in transcript review. Participants will be given a transcript after each data collection activity for them to review for accuracy. The transcript review should take 30 minutes to complete.

#### How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study.

Benefits to society increased public knowledge on the experiences of students who attended an early college high school and their transition to a four-year university.

#### What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

#### How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records. Data collected from you may be shared for use in future research studies or with other researchers. If data collected from you is shared, any information that could identify you, if applicable, will be removed before the data is shared.

- Participant responses will be kept confidential through the use of pseudonyms. Interviews
  will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer and may be used in future presentations. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted. Paper copies will be kept in a locked cabinet at the research site. Any paper copies will also be shredded.
- Interviews/focus groups will be recorded and transcribed. Recordings will be stored on a
  password locked computer for three years and then erased. Only the researcher will have
  access to these recordings.
- Confidentiality cannot be guaranteed in focus group settings. While discouraged, other
  members of the focus group may share what was discussed with persons outside of the
  group.

#### How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will be compensated for participating in this study. Participants who complete all procedures will be given a \$20 Amazon gift card. If a participant does not complete all data collection components, they will not receive a \$20 Amazon gift card.

#### Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University or the University of Arkansas Hope-Texarkana. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

#### What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you, apart from focus group data, will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study. Focus group data will not be destroyed, but your contributions to the focus group will not be included in the study if you choose to withdraw.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?
The researcher conducting this study is Mikki Curtis. You may ask any questions you have now.
If you have questions later, <b>you are encouraged</b> to contact her at <b>Section 1</b> . You
may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Patricia Ferrin, at
Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?
If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone
other than the researcher, you are encouraged to contact the Institutional Review Board,
. , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.
Your Consent
By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.
I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.
The researcher has my permission to audio-record and video-record me as part of my participation in this study.
Printed Subject Name
Signature & Date

# Appendix D

# **Student Questionnaire**

- 1. What is your name?
- 2. What four-year university did you transfer to?
- 3. What is your major?
- 4. What was your GPA when you graduated from the collegiate high school?
- 5. What is your GPA after your first semester at the four-year university?
- 6. What courses did you take during your first semester at the four-year university?
- 7. How many hours did you take during your first semester at the four-year university?
- 8. What course, if any, was more difficult for you out of the courses you took during your first semester at the four-year university?
- 9. What are your thoughts on high school students attending an early college high school?

# Appendix E

# **Interview Questions**

Moving In: Preparing to transition to a four-year university

# 1. Situation

- Tell me about your experience attending a collegiate high school at Southern
   Community College. SQ1
  - i. How many college credit hours did you have when you graduated high school? SQ1
  - ii. Were your college courses online or face-to-face? SQ1
  - iii. In what ways did you feel prepared or not prepared for your experiences in college? SQ1

# 2. Support

- a. Tell me about your family. SQ1
  - i. How were they supportive of you while you were in the early college high school? SQ1
  - ii. In what ways were they not supportive of you while you were in the ECHS? SQ1
- b. What did your family think about your wanting to transition to a four-year university? SQ1
  - i. How were they supportive of your decision to transition to a four-year university? SQ1
  - ii. In what ways were they not supportive of your decision to transition to a four-year university? SQ1

c. What supports did you have while in the ECHS that helped you be successful?SQ1

# 3. Self

- a. How did you feel about graduating from the ECHS with your associate degree?
   SQ1
- b. How did you feel about getting accepted to a four-year university? SQ1
- c. Have you experienced any change or transition similar to your transition to a fouryear university? SQ1
  - i. If so, how did it go? SQ1
  - ii. Was it a successful experience? SQ1
  - iii. What helped you to be successful during the experience? SQ1

# 4. Strategies

- a. What strategies did you use to adjust when you first enrolled in the ECHS? SQ1
- b. What strategies did you use when you first transitioned to the four-year university to help you adjust? SQ1
- c. How would you describe the ways you coped with change and transitions? SQ1 Moving Through: First Semester at the four-year university

#### 1. Situation

- a. What was your first-semester at the four-year university like? SQ2
- b. Was the experience positive or negative? Explain. SQ2
- c. How was your first-semester at the four-year university different than the ECHS?SQ2

# 2. Support

- a. How was your family supportive during your first semester? SQ2
- b. How was your family not supportive during your first semester? SQ2
- c. How did the institution offer support? SQ2
- d. Where else did you find support during your first semester? Explain. SQ2

#### 3. Self

- a. Describe yourself compared to your peers in your classes. SQ2
- b. Describe how you tried to stay positive during your first semester. SQ2

# 4. Strategies

- a. What strategies did you use to help you adapt to your life at the four-year university? SQ2
- b. What supports provided by the institution did you utilize? SQ2
- c. What extra-curricular activities were you involved in? SQ2
- d. What was the hardest thing for you to overcome? How did you try to overcome it? SQ2

Moving Out: Finishing the first semester

#### 1. Situation

- a. What was it like finishing your first semester at a four-year university? SQ3
- b. Describe your feelings regarding being done with the first semester. SQ3
- c. Describe what you would have done differently about your first semester. SQ3

# 2. Support

- a. What or who supported you the most as you finished your first semester? SQ3
- b. What supports did you wish you had during your first semester? SQ3

# 3. Self

- a. How did you feel about being done with your first semester? SQ3
- Looking back, how far have you come from when you graduated the ECHS to now? Explain. SQ3

# 4. Strategies

- a. What strategies did you use during your first semester that you plan on using as you continue in school? SQ3
- b. What strategies helped you through your first semester? SQ3
- c. What strategies do you wish you had used as you transitioned to the four-year university? SQ3
- d. If you had to do it again, would you enroll in the ECHS? Why or why not? SQ3
- e. What are some things you wish you would have known about transitioning to a four-year university? SQ3

# **Final Question**

1. What are some things that you feel are essential for me to understand that we might not have previously discussed regarding your transition from a collegiate high school to a four-year university?

# **Appendix F**

# **Letter Writing Prompt**

# <u>Disclaimer: These letters will be shared during the focus group, so be sure no identifying</u> <u>information (e.g., names, emails, etc.) is provided.</u>

"When discussing your transition from the early collegiate high school to a four-year university, how would you describe it to a senior currently in the early collegiate high school?".

# Appendix G

# **Focus Group Questions**

- 1. Take a look at other letters written by other participants. Which ones do you identify with and why do you identify with them?
- 2. Based on your experiences, how can the early collegiate high school better prepare students for the transition to a four-year university? CRQ
- 3. Based on your experiences, what advice would you give an early collegiate high school senior getting ready to transition to a four-year university? CRQ
- 4. Based on your experiences, what advice would you give an early collegiate high school senior during their first semester of college? CRQ
- 5. Based on your experiences, how can four-year universities better support their incoming first-year students better? CRQ
- 6. What are some things you feel are essential for me to understand that we might not have previously discussed regarding your transition from a collegiate high school to a four-year university?